

# **TRIAL PROTOCOL**

# **PHOENIx**

Pharmacy Homeless Outreach Engagement Non-medical Independent prescribing Rx (PHOENIx) community pharmacy-based pilot randomised controlled trial

This protocol has regard for the HRA guidance and is compliant with the SPIRIT guidelines (2013)

Version Number: 2.0

Version Date: 19-JUL-2022

# PROTOCOL DEVELOPMENT

# **Protocol amendments**

The following amendments and/or administrative changes have been made to this protocol since the implementation of the first approved version.

<u>Amendment</u> <u>number</u>	<u>Date of</u> amendment	Protocol version number	<u>Type of</u> amendment	Summary of amendment

Funding and support in kind	
Funder(s)/Supporting Organisations	Financial and non- financial support given:
National Institute for Health Research (NIHR)	Financial
Funding scheme (if applicable)	HS&DR
Funder's reference number	133060
The Funder of the trial has had no role in the trial design, data collection, data analysis or data interpretation.	
This project is funded by the NIHR (funder reference number 133060). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NIHR or department of health and social care.	

# **PROTOCOL SIGN OFF**

# Chief Investigator (CI) signature page

I, the Chief Investigator, confirm that I have read and agree with the following protocol, and that I will conduct the trial in compliance with the version of this protocol approved by the REC and any other responsible organisations.

I agree to ensure that the information contained in this document will not be used for any other purpose other than the evaluation or conduct of the clinical investigation without the prior written consent of the Sponsor.

I also confirm that I will make the findings of the trial publicly available through publication or other dissemination tools without any unnecessary delay and that an honest accurate and transparent account of the study will be given; and that any discrepancies from the study as stated in this and any subsequent approved protocol will be explained.

Trial name:	PHOENIx Community Pharmacy	
Protocol version number:	Version: 2.0	
Protocol version date:	19/JUL/2022	
CI name:	Vibhu Paudyal	
Signature and date:		

# **Sponsor statement**

By signing the IRAS form for this trial, University of Birmingham, acting as sponsor, confirm approval of this protocol.

# **Compliance statement**

This protocol describes the PHOENIx Community Pharmacy (PCP) trial only. The protocol should not be used as a guide for the treatment of participants not taking part in the PCP trial.

The trial will be conducted in compliance with the approved protocol, the UK Policy Framework for Health and Social Care Research, Data Protection Act 2018 and the Principles of Good Clinical Practice (GCP) as set out in the UK Statutory Instrument (2004/1031) and subsequent amendments thereof. We will also comply to the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (England) and Section 51 of the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000. Every care has been taken in the drafting of this protocol, but future amendments may be necessary, which will receive the required approvals prior to implementation.

# Principal Investigator (PI) signature page

As Principal Investigator, I confirm that the following protocol has been agreed and accepted, and that I will conduct the trial in compliance with the approved protocol where this does not compromise participant safety.

I agree to ensure that the information contained in this document will not be used for any other purpose other than the evaluation or conduct of the clinical investigation without the prior written consent of the Sponsor.

Trial name:	
Protocol version number:	Version:
Protocol version date:	//
PI name:	
Name of Site:	
Signature and date:	//

# **ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION**

Reference Numbers	
Sponsor number	RG_20-123123
ISRCTN reference number	ТВС
IRAS reference number	309760309760
NIHR HS&DR	NIHR133060

<u>Sponsor</u>	
University of Birmingham	Dr Birgit Whitman
Head of Research Governance and Integrity	T: 0121 415 8011
Aston Webb Building	E: researchgovernance@contacts.bham.ac.uk
University of Birmingham	
Birmingham	
B15 2TT	

Chief Investigator	
Dr Vibhu Paudyal	Senior Lecturer in Clinical Pharmacy
School of Pharmacy	T: 0121 414 2538
College of Medical and Dental Sciences	E: v.paudyal@bham.ac.uk
Sir Robert Aitken Institute for Medical Research	
University of Birmingham	
Birmingham	
B15 2TT	
Joint Lead	
Dr Richard Lowrie	
Head of Pharmacy Research and	T: 07971 827565
Development, Lead for Pharmacy Homeless Health, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde	E: Richard.Lowrie@ggc.scot.nhs.uk

Trial office contact details	
Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit (BCTU)	
Institute of Applied Health Research	
College of Medical and Dental Sciences	phoenix@trials.bham.ac.uk
Public Health Building	
University of Birmingham	
Birmingham	
B15 2TT	
Trial website	< tbc >
Trial social media	< tbc >

Trial Management Group	
Dr Vibhu Paudyal (CI)	Associate Professor in Clinical Pharmacy, University of Birmingham
Dr Richard Lowrie (Joint lead)	Head of Pharmacy Research and Development, Lead for Pharmacy Homeless Health, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Mrs Sarah Tearne	Trials Management Team Leader, BCTU
Mr Lee Middleton	Lead Statistician, BCTU
Mrs Versha Cheed	Statistician, BCTU
Emily Dixon	Trial Manager, BCTU
ТВС	Programmer, BCTU

Associate Professor in Clinical Pharmacy
University of Birmingham
Head of Pharmacy Research and Development
Lead for Pharmacy Homeless Health
NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Professor of Women's Health and Director of Research and Development, BCTU
Statistician, BCTU
Senior Health Economist
Healthcare Improvement Scotland Glasgow
Professor of Public Health
University of Birmingham
Chief Executive
Sifa Fireside
Birmingham
Professor of General Practice
Institute of Health and Wellbeing
University of Glasgow
Reader in Clinical Trials and Senior Statistician
всти
Clinical Director
Glasgow City
NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Associate Professor Clinical Pharmacy and
Prescribing
School of Pharmacy
University of Birmingham
Head of Services for Rough Sleepers and Vulnerable People
SIFA
Scotland Simon Community Scotland
Clinical Lead and Consultant Psychiatrist
Change, Grow and Live
Birmingham

Priyadarshi Saket	Associate Medical Director and Senior Medical Officer
	Glasgow Alcohol and Drug Recovery Services Senior
Karen Saunders	Consultant in Public Health
	Public Heath England
Sarah Tearne	Trials Management Team Leader, BCTU
Andrea Williamson	Inclusion Health GP and Clinical Senior Lecturer
	General Practice and Primary Care
	Deputy Director Community Based Education- Undergraduate GP teaching
	Coordinator of Global Health primary care BSc Clinical Medicine and Lead for GP SSCs and Electives
	College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences
	School of Medicine, Dentistry and Nursing University of Glasgow

Joint Oversight Committee	
Independent Members	
Dr Nigel Hewett (Chair)	Medical Director, Pathway (Homelessness) London UK
Dr Michelle Cornes	Senior Research Fellow King's College London
Dr Francesca Pesola	Research Fellow in Statistics King's College London
Craig Egan	PPI member, Crisis Birmingham, UK
Non-Independent Members	
Vibhu Paudyal	Associate Professor in Clinical Pharmacy, University of Birmingham
Richard Lowrie	Head of Research and Development, Lead for Pharmacy Homeless Health, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Versha Cheed	Statistician, BCTU
Lee Middleton	Reader in Clinical Trials and Senior Statistician, BCTU

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

Abbreviation	<u>Term</u>					
ADRS	alcohol and drug recovery services					
AE	Adverse Event					
всти	Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit					
DCF	Data Clarification Form					
СІ	Chief Investigator					
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease					
CRF	Case Report Form					
DSA	Data Sharing Agreement					
FEV1	Forced Expiratory Volume					
GCP	Good Clinical Practice					
GP	General Practitioner					
HRA	Health Research Authority					
ICF	Informed Consent Form					
ICS	Integrated Care System					
ISD	Information Service Division					
ISF	Investigator Site File					
NHS	National Health Service					
NHS GG&C	NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde					
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence					
NIHR	National Institute for Health Research					
NRS	National Records Scotland					
ос	Oversight Committee					
РЕН	Persons experiencing Homelessness					
PI	Principal Investigator					
РСР	Phoenix Community Pharmacy					
PIS	Participant Information Sheet					

PPI	Patient and Public Engagement
QALYs	Quality Adjusted Life Years
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
REC	Research Ethics Committee
SAE	Serious Adverse Event
SAP	Statistical Analysis Plan
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network
TMF	Trial Master File
TMG	Trial Management Group
тос	Trial Oversight Committee
UoB	University of Birmingham
VOI	Value of Information

# **TRIAL SUMMARY**

# <u>Title</u>

Pharmacy Homeless Outreach Engagement Non-medical Independent prescribing Rx (PHOENIx) community pharmacy-based pilot randomised controlled trial

# <u>Design</u>

Randomised, multicentre, open, parallel group external pilot trial with parallel economic and qualitative process evaluation.

# **Objectives**

To undertake a pilot randomised controlled trial (RCT) to assess the feasibility of conducting a larger, definitive trial assessing an integrated clinical pharmacist / homeless third sector intervention (PHOENIx) delivered in a community pharmacy setting. The pilot RCT will test recruitment, retention, acceptability, trial procedures and potential future implementability and scalability of the intervention.

### Participant population and sample size

100 adults  $\geq$ 18 years experiencing current homelessness. 15-20 of these participants will be included in a qualitative substudy, plus 7-10 health care professionals and 7-10 stakeholders..

### **Setting**

Glasgow and Birmingham city centre community pharmacies. Participating pharmacies will be located in parts of Glasgow and Birmingham city centre and immediate surrounding areas, where People Experiencing Homelessness (PEH) are known to frequent. This limits our selection of pharmacies but both cities are big enough to offer a choice of locations, independent or multiple chain ownership pharmacies. Initially two pharmacies in Glasgow and two in Birmingham will be recruited. Backup sites (other community pharmacies) will be asked to participate in the event that recruitment is slow in each of the four main community pharmacies, during the first 2 weeks.

### **Eligibility criteria**

Inclusion:

- Adults ≥18 years and experiencing homelessness, who are attending or service users of one of the designated community pharmacies.
  - Homelessness will cover:
    - rooflessness
    - o houselessness
    - $\circ \quad$  insecure or inadequate housing as per the ETHOS typology
    - people staying in homeless shelters
    - o rough sleepers
    - people staying in temporary accommodation such as bed and breakfasts (B&Bs), hostels, squats; or those sofa surfing between family and friends' houses

Exclusion:

- Living in accommodation with 24-hour support which includes in house medical care
- Intoxicated or (in the opinion of the researcher) posing a safety risk to staff and lacking capacity to consent

### **Interventions**

**Intervention group:** In addition to usual care, the PHOENIx team (pharmacist independent prescriber in partnership with a third sector charity worker) will assess the participants' physical, mental and addictions health, housing, benefits and social activities during a consultation in the community pharmacy. Taking approximately one hour, face to face (with full personal protective equipment), the PHOENIx team will record the participant's priorities, and going at the participant's pace, will assess, treat, prescribe, and refer to other health and social care teams. The team will offer 'sticky' follow up, flexible, weekly (more or less often as required) consultations in the pharmacy or outreach in temporary residence, homelessness support hub or community shelters as preferred by the participant, for six months. Our aim is to have intervention staff available in Glasgow and Birmingham, on four days per week, working two days in each pharmacy. Uptake of health and social care interventions will be maximised, and dropout minimised, through assertive outreach by the third sector charity worker to find participants in case of non-attendance at the pharmacy.

**Control Group:** Usual care. Participants allocated to usual care will not receive consultations from the PHOENIx team in the pharmacy or in any other venue, throughout the duration of the intervention phase. If allocated to usual care, the researcher will signpost or refer the participant should they identify urgent health care needs e.g. overdose.

In both intervention and usual care groups, participants can continue to obtain and seek care, treatment or help as usual. Bias is possible, although unavoidable, through signposting the usual care group to Emergency Department by the researcher (after assessments) or to other health and social care staff. Consultations (frequency, location) with health and social care for all participants, will be collected by researchers.

### **Outcome measures**

**Primary:** The primary outcome is the feasibility of a subsequent phase III trial RCT according to prespecified progression criteria. We are primarily interested in whether:

- the trial is appealing to participants (assessed by the recruitment rate)
- the PHOENIx intervention is acceptable (measured by adherence)
- we are able to collect routine data required to evaluate the effectiveness of the intervention

We will also evaluate:

- the recruitment and randomisation processes
- the effect of the intervention on outcomes listed

The data collected will be used to review the sample size assumptions for the definitive trial to be conducted in the future.

### Process outcome measures

Data will be collected on outcome measures that would be collected in a definitive RCT to ensure that there are no issues with the completion of these measures in preparation for the main trial. We will objectively assess the following:

- Recruitment
- Retention
- Intervention adherence
- Routine data collection
- Proportion of patient reported outcomes collected
- Proportion of economic data collected

Data in relation to clinical, social and patient reported outcomes will also be collected. These will include:

- health services utilisation
- social care outcomes (such as housing and level of debt)
- patient reported measures (including intervention acceptability and quality of life)



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1.	BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE	19
1.1	Background	.19
1.2.	Trial rationale	.21
1.2.1.	Justification for participant population	.27
1.2.2.	Justification for design	.27
1.2.3.	Justification for choice of intervention(s)	.27
1.2.4.	Justification of choice of primary outcome(s)	.27
2.	AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	27
2.1.	Aim	.27
2.2.	Trial objectives	.28
2.2.1.	Economic objectives	.28
2.2.2.	Qualitative objectives	.28
3.	TRIAL DESIGN AND SETTING	28
3.1.	Trial design	.28
3.2.	Trial setting	.28
3.3.	Sub-studies	.29
3.4.	Assessment of risk	.29
4.	ELIGIBILITY	29
4.1.	Inclusion criteria	.29
4.2.	Exclusion Criteria	. 30
4.3.	Co-enrolment	. 30
5.	CONSENT	30
6.	ENROLMENT, RANDOMISATION and BLINDING	32
6.1.	Identification	
6.2.	Screening and enrolment	. 33
6.3.	Randomisation	. 33
6.4.	Blinding	. 33
6.5.	Informing the participant's GP and other parties	. 33
7.	TRIAL INTERVENTION	34
7.1.	Trial intervention content	. 34
7.2.	Continuation of intervention after the trial	.36
8.	OUTCOME MEASURES	36
8.1.	Feasibility (process) outcomes	.36
8.2.	Clinical outcomes	
8.3.	Economic evaluation	
8.4.	Qualitative evaluation	. 39
9.	TRIAL PROCEDURES	39
9.1.	Schedule of assessments	.42

9.2.	Withdrawal and changes in levels of participation	43
10.	ADVERSE EVENT REPORTING	
11.	DATA HANDLING AND RECORD KEEPING	
11.1.	Source data	
11.2.	Case Report Form (CRF) completion	
11.3.	Participant completed questionnaires	
11.4.	Data management	
11.5.	Self-evident corrections	
11.6.	Data security	
11.7.	Archiving	
12.	QUALITY CONTROL AND QUALITY ASSURANCE	
12.1.	Site set-up and initiation	.48
12.2.	Monitoring	
12.2.	1. On-site monitoring	
	2. Central monitoring	
12.3.	Audit and inspection	.49
12.4.	Notification of Serious Breaches	.49
13.	END OF TRIAL DEFINITION	49
14.	STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS	49
14.1	Sample size	
14.2	Analysis of outcomes	
14.2.	1. Planned subgroup analyses	. 50
14.2.2	2. Missing data and sensitivity analyses	. 50
14.3.	Planned final analyses	. 50
15.	HEALTH ECONOMICS	50
15.1.	Within-trial economic evaluation	.50
15.2.		
16.	SUB-STUDIES	
17.	TRIAL ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE	53
17.1.	Sponsor	.53
17.2.	Coordinating centre	.53
17.3.	Trial Management Group	.53
17.4.	Co-investigator group	.53
17.5.	Independent Trial Oversight Committee (TOC)	.53
17.6.	Finance	.54
18.	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	54
19.	DATA PROTECTION AND CONFIDENTIALITY	54
20.	FINANCIAL AND OTHER COMPETING INTERESTS	55
21.	INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY	
22.		
22.	POST-TRIAL CARE	56

23.	ACCESS TO FINAL DATASET	. 56
24.	DISSEMINATION AND PUBLICATION PLAN	. 56
25.	REFERENCE LIST	. 57
26.	APPENDIX	. 59

# **1. BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE**

## 1.1 Background

Persons experiencing homelessness (PEH), including rooflessness, houselessness, insecure or inadequate housing, face up to 12 times higher mortality rates than the general population. Most PEH tend to be in their late 30s, but on average, they have seven different health problems, on a par with people aged 85 years living in their own homes. They die at an average age of 45 years. PEH have complex health needs including acute and long-term physical ill health, mental ill health and problem poly-substance use. Social care needs include stable and safe housing, purposeful daily work related activity, and help in navigating the complex health and social care needs and may have few trusting and supportive relationships. PEH often do not find services configured to cope with their complex needs, requiring multiple visits over time to different services often in different locations. They can also have fluctuating motivation (drug use, mental health and physical health problems, prioritising safety and housing are contributory), and low health literacy, making it difficult to navigate different services in primary care. PEH therefore often have more frequent attendance at hospital Emergency Departments.

Assertive outreach is a recognised way to engage and support PEH rather than offering services in traditional health service settings. The importance of assertive outreach has been further recognised as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the approach is known to engage, assess, address and improve the complex health and social care problems of PEH. Within this context, we have mapped and modelled a complex intervention for PEH utilising pharmacist prescribers undertaking assertive outreach services, in partnership with third sector homelessness charity outreach workers.

This study is informed by delivering care to PEH as part of the **P**harmacy **H**omeless **O**utreach **E**ngagement **N**on-medical Independent prescriber **Rx**: PHOENIx service, currently operating in Glasgow, where it is funded in the short term. The study is also built on our previous descriptive studies [1-3], and our qualitative studies incorporating the views of PEH [4-8] and stakeholders, including service commissioners, healthcare professionals and public health bodies [9]. It is well known that good health requires a multidimensional approach including safe housing, purposeful activity, and money, in addition to nutrition, and accessible comprehensive, co-ordinated health care [10]. Supportive relationships are also important. PEH unfortunately often have few, if any of these pre-requisites. This research provides the opportunity to consider health and social inequalities through an innovative outreach intervention.

Prescribing remains an important component of the PHOENIx service, as many PEH benefit from medical treatment on the spot. If prescribing is undertaken, PEH are most likely to take the first dose of their medicine in the pharmacy (and this is particularly true for antibiotics or inhalers for breathing problems). Our previous qualitative studies suggest that the process of collecting a prescription can also be challenging for PEH [7]. Follow up consultations help build therapeutic relationships and provide continuity of care until the patient is ready to trust and engage with mainstream care. Follow up is facilitated as patients tend to visit the pharmacy for repeat supplies. If they do not return, the pharmacist (and third sector worker who has extended networks on the street) can outreach the patient and ask them to return, with the aim of minimising dropout.

# Previous relevant studies by the research team

In our exploratory study of 124 PEH in Glasgow in 2015/6, 43% had a new medicine prescribed, 8% had a medicine discontinued and 28% had other changes to their prescribing, with one third having

tests or other diagnostic workup, and one third of PEH were referred onto other services [2]. In another study involving 52 PEH in 2017, the PHOENIx intervention team visited PEH in streets and low threshold venues e.g. homeless shelters, soup kitchens [1]. Pharmacists provided pop-up, dropin (no appointment needed) health clinics to various homeless support venues in Glasgow City Centre. The intervention led to medications being prescribed by pharmacists in 62% of all PEH, of which over 60% were new medications. New clinical issues were identified in 69% of PEH. More importantly, this exploratory study showed improvement in PEH engagement, with 85% subsequently attending either a follow-up appointment with the pharmacist or another referred service [1].

Qualitative evaluation of the PHOENIx service demonstrated that participants appreciated the time taken by the pharmacist and the third sector Homelessness Charity (Simon Community Scotland) worker [11,12]. Participants described that the service was able to help them overcome many of the barriers to accessing healthcare they experience, including stigma, discrimination and impaired mobility, and increased motivation for self-care and health seeking behaviour [11,12]. The PHOENIx service enabled immediate diagnosis and prescription of medication, and improvements in health outcomes were described by participants. Improvement in knowledge and understanding of their health issues, impact of illicit drug use on long-term health, and the side effects of prescribed medication were also described.

We found more evidence for the merits of the PHOENIx approach through our qualitative studies with participants and staff involved in the frontline delivery of services [11-13] and from stakeholder engagement events held in Birmingham [10]. Qualitative findings suggested that the interventions facilitated PEH access to healthcare, enabled immediate diagnosis and treatment and motivated participants to address their healthcare needs.

A further feasibility study using a non-randomised design comparing the PHOENIx intervention to a control group, was undertaken in Glasgow. [14] The PHOENIx intervention included pharmacist and a third sector homeless charity workers undertaking assessment of physical/mental health, addictions, housing, benefits and social activities followed by pharmacist prescribing with referral to other health service specialities as necessary Participants were PEH referred to the PHOENIx team at the point of hospital discharge. Findings of the PHOENIx feasibility study were comparable to previous results [1, 2], with new clinical issues being identified and offered treatment. The intervention was able to promote engagement with services with 67% of intervention group participants and 25% of the usual care group attending scheduled outpatient appointments. Findings led to the current planned multicentre RCT.

# Why test the intervention in community pharmacy?

Participants in public engagement and previous research have suggested that interaction in community pharmacies is limited to medicines/items supply. Within the planned formal local care pathway framework, the PHOENIx intervention will better utilise an untapped NHS resource, given workforce shortages among doctors and nurses.

Accessing healthcare in a venue located in the city centre, sometimes a few steps away from where PEH live and sleep, without the need for an appointment; or to complete registration documents (often difficult for many PEH because of low levels of literacy), often without the need to wait, is something that PEH value. Currently, most General Practitioner (GP) and Nurse Consultations in

general practices are by appointment, on the telephone or via videoconferencing. This community pharmacy-based PHOENIx intervention aims to address PEH barriers to accessing health services as community pharmacies are used routinely by PEH. If this pilot study shows a signal in improvement in health outcomes, community pharmacists (who have the skills and knowledge to deliver the stated roles) with third sector input, can deliver the intervention.

## Wider literature

Findings from our feasibility studies described above resonated with a study in the US involving a clinical pharmacist intervention on PEH health education [15]. Two other studies, from the Republic of Ireland [16] and North America [17], included pharmacist led clinical review of PEH residents in temporary accommodation which identified under- and potentially inappropriate prescribing, particularly in those with diagnosed mental illnesses. In these studies, referrals for social care input had to be frequently made by pharmacists as they were unavailable on site contrary to the structure of the proposed PHOENIx model which includes Simon Community Scotland (Scotland's leading Homeless charity) or Sifa Fireside (Birmingham's main Homeless Charity) workers who undertake these roles on the spot. A retrospective pre-post quasi-experimental study conducted in the US [18] evaluated the impact of clinical pharmacy services on health outcomes and medication adherence (focussing on hypertension and diabetes in PEH). Intervention led to an increase in the number of PEH meeting blood pressure and HbA1c goals. No comparator group was used, and the intervention was not delivered in a community pharmacy [18].

# 1.2. Trial rationale

The policy, practice and previous research identified through literature review informed the design of the proposed pilot trial. Our search of the research databases (Medline, PubMed, EMBASE and PyschInfo) using Medical Subject Headings and keywords such as 'homelessness', 'homeless', rough sleepers', 'street dwellers', 'pharmacy', 'pharmacist', 'clinical pharmacy services', 'community pharmacy', and 'social worker' identified no published or unpublished RCTs which considered pharmacist-led support for PEH in a community pharmacy setting. Non-randomised studies assessing interventions targeted at PEH that included a main or supporting role of pharmacists as part of a multidisciplinary care team in non-community pharmacy primary care settings were identified. Of these, two studies included joint participation of a pharmacist and social worker in the intervention delivery [19,20]. Community pharmacists have shown readiness to take on further roles in supporting the health needs of PEH; 90% (n=321) of respondents in our survey undertaken in 2016/17 of community pharmacy from across England and Scotland would prefer to have further involvement in supporting PEH with health and social issues, if an evidenced-based local care pathway was available to support their input, such as the system of care we aim to test in this study [21].

The inclusion of clinical pharmacists in the primary care team is embedded in the NHS primary care framework and practice models [22], and has been shown to improve: appointment access; medication adherence; patients' understanding of long term conditions; minimising illicit opioid use; and establishment of good quality networks with community pharmacy [23]. A systematic review of international literature corroborates these findings [24]. Approximately 7500 (of 56,000) pharmacists in the UK are qualified independent prescribers allowing them to diagnose medical conditions, prescribe medicines and make referrals. While many pharmacists in general practices

have been undertaking prescribing roles, currently there is a lack of opportunities in community pharmacy for pharmacist independent prescribers to utilise their skills. Innovative service models targeting patient groups in need of support, who can access community pharmacies, are needed to utilise their skills further. Previously in the UK, interventions have involved homeless healthcare teams based in hospitals [25]. Our previous systematic review supports the model of integrated health and social care service provision for PEH [26]. These published reviews, however, demonstrate lack of interventions based in community pharmacy.

National policy documents underscore the need for innovation in health care delivery for PEH and many of the principles are part of the PHOENIx intervention [27,28]. The proposed PHOENIx model supports current strategic priorities for inclusion of health and health equity in the NHS and local government, including further prioritisation of the health of PEH and co-occurring disorders in the context of the current pandemic [29] and the crucial role community pharmacy has to play in promoting health, wellbeing and prevention, given their broad expertise, accessibility and knowledge of their communities [30]. The research also promotes the important principle of personalisation and personalised care which enables people to have choice and control over the way their care is planned and delivered based on 'what matters' to them and their individual strengths and needs [31]. The methods advocated here also complement social prescribing, a key component of universal personalised care [32]. In social prescribing, link workers give people time, focusing on 'what matters to them' and taking a holistic approach to people's health and wellbeing. They connect people to community groups and statutory services for practical and emotional support. Link workers also support existing community groups to be accessible and sustainable, and help people to start new groups, working collaboratively with all local partners [33].

### Problem drug use and mortality in context

In Glasgow, the number of drug related deaths among PEH compared with those for people in mainstream Scottish society, are very high in comparison with the rest of the UK and other high income countries [34]. In England and Wales, there were an estimated 778 deaths of PEH in 2019, an increase of 7.2% from the previous years; approximately two thirds of these deaths were attributed to drug poisoning [35]. The root causes of drug related deaths are most strongly correlated with poverty and deprivation; with homelessness being an indicator of the most severe and multiple disadvantage [35]. Ninety four percent of overdose deaths in Scotland [34] and over 50% in England [36] were in people who had taken more than one substance with opioids contributing to the majority of the deaths. However, many of these deaths are preventable if people with problem substance use are engaged in care and started on treatment using a wide range of engagement settings. Other important causes of deaths amongst PEH include accidents, respiratory infections, suicides / self-harm [37] much of which are preventable if PEH can access appropriate care when needed.

# Prevalence of homelessness

PEH have poor health and 12 times higher mortality rates than the general population [38]. There are an estimated 250,000 [39] and 29,000 [40] PEH in England and Scotland respectively; with a sharp rise in rough sleeping over recent years [41]. While housing PEH has been a high priority at Government and local authority level during the COVID-19 pandemic, Government departments expect homelessness to be an important societal challenge for the foreseeable future [42].

# Unmet, escalating health needs

Our previous epidemiological studies with PEH [42-44] and published systematic review [38] show a high prevalence of long-term health conditions, infections and multi-morbidity (presence of 2 or more chronic conditions) in PEH. Severe and untreated mental health problems and substance and alcohol misuse can be a cause and a consequence of homelessness.

# Low engagement in current care pathways

Our work shows PEH experience difficulty registering at a general practice [26, 27], find services inflexible to their requirements [4-7], and hence are known to visit Emergency Departments six times more often than mainstream populations; drug and alcohol related problems are amongst the leading causes of attendance. In the Emergency Department, PEH are 12 times more likely to die compared to the general population [45]. Non-attendance at appointments is common among PEH, and 'missingness' is associated with higher mortality [46].

# Potential for community pharmacy-based intervention

PEH regularly visit pharmacies in city centres for care and treatment e.g. acute and repeat prescription collection, needle exchange, opioid substitution therapy, and more could be done to utilise this window of opportunity [11, 21].

A community pharmacy-based model therefore offers PEH the opportunity to access low threshold enhanced care including prescribing from a PHOENIx pharmacist working in their community pharmacy, located in the city centre streets well known to PEH, without an appointment. Work to date shows that the PHOENIx intervention offers help with care that lies outside the main health domain e.g. benefits maximisation, social prescribing leading to volunteering roles in the community such as fixing bikes, but nevertheless is important to enable PEH to function, feel safe and recover. These pre-requisites to better health include adequate housing, benefits, and a wide range of opportunities for meaningful activity. Health interventions can include immediate referral to mental health teams for suicide prevention and follow up. Having a range of local experts on speed dial, for immediate advice, and including the participant's GP is important.

### Assertive 'sticky' follow up to maximise engagement

One challenge with PEH is engagement in their care because many PEH find that services are not designed to meet their needs. Frontline service providers report that PEH often find it difficult to navigate services and appointment systems. Frontline third sector agencies e.g. Simon Community Scotland or Sifa Fireside Birmingham offer assertive outreach to drop-in services and visit temporary homeless accommodation. Third sector homeless staff often have strong working relationships with PEH, providing housing, food, clothing support, advocacy, benefits and advice. Unlike previous interventions that have been delivered by healthcare professionals and/or included step down accommodation [25, 47] targeting patients discharged from hospital, this intervention will be based in the community, and aims to prevent deterioration in health to the point of Emergency Department visits. However, third sector staff operate separately and cannot readily share records with the health service, therefore, opportunities to capitalise on 'windows of opportunity' for PEH who have fluctuating motivation to engage, are missed. In the health service, assertive outreach to

assess and comprehensively address multiple complex health and social care needs, is patchy. Therefore, we have partnered third sector charity staff teams with NHS pharmacists to offer a one stop shop for health and social care needs, in city centre community pharmacies, to have those joined up health conversations and make every contact count [48].

## Clinical governance

Support is fully integrated with existing NHS care providers, the PHOENIx team are connected through remote access, to the respective Homelessness Services, GP practices (which provides the clinical governance framework) and to alcohol and drug recovery teams and hospital records, to enable co-ordinated care. Governance arrangements with the respective GP practices enable shared clinical records, participation in monthly clinical meetings and checking in with GPs for clinical queries ensures clinical oversight and safe prescribing.

There is a paucity of robustly designed prospective evaluations of models of care to address the health needs of PEH in any setting. Previous research has explored clinically and housing-led services for homeless people being discharged from hospital (including step-down accommodation) [47], but the effects of routine, community-based interventions may even help prevent admissions in the first place. This proposed pilot study will test a community pharmacy-based intervention involving clinical pharmacists and third sector homelessness charity workers.

Logic model describing the problem, inputs, proposed intervention and activities and outcomes are shown in figure 1.

# PHOENIx Protocol

Figure 1: Logic model: PHOENIx community pharmacy based randomised cont	ntrolled pilot trial
---	----------------------

Problem Complex health and social care needs of PEH including physical multimorbidity, mental health problems, problem substance use; lack of tailored services to meet PEH needs leading to exclusion from care; undiagnosed health conditions; perceived fragmentation of services; early mortality	<ul> <li>Integrated clinical pharmacist and voluntary sector health (physical, mental, substance use) and social care (benefits, housing and social prescribing) assessment (PHOENIx)</li> <li>delivered in a community pharmacy</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intervention / Activities         <ul> <li>PHOENIx health and social care check</li> <li>weekly contacts for 6 months</li> <li>assessment of participants' physical, mental health, substance use, housing, benefits and social activities</li> <li>medicines prescribing by pharmacist where necessary</li> <li>referrals to health and social care agencies</li> <li>express referral to alcohol and drug recovery services and urgent treatment centres where required</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Short-term outcomes</li> <li>improved engagement with health and social care</li> <li>assessment of symptoms</li> <li>building therapeutic relationship and trust in healthcare providers</li> <li>immediate treatment of presenting conditions e.g. wound care</li> <li>prescribing for conditions not previously treated</li> <li>immediate, urgent referral to health services e.g. for commencement of opiate replacement therapy or for mental health assessment and social care services</li> <li>assessment for benefits, housing and social prescribing</li> <li>assessment of pain and disability with a focus on reduction</li> <li>emergency treatment</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Medium term outcomes</li> <li>Initiation of treatment for additional conditions not prioritised at first or second consultation e.g. addictions, mental health, physical health, physical health. (this could include ensuring secondary prevention activities/screening (e.g. engagement with retinal screening for those with diabetes))</li> <li>continued progress on maximising benefits, housing application</li> <li>setup of social prescribing activities e.g. football</li> <li>increased utilisation and engagement with mainstream general practices</li> </ul>		Longer-term outcomes improvement in surrogate markers of disease reduced overdoses reduction in unscheduled ED visits reduction in unscheduled GP or out of hours visits Patient transition to mainstream general practices Integration with the community wider social impacts
--	---	---	--	---	--	--	--	---

#### **PHOENIx Protocol**

**Potential moderators of intervention effect:** social circumstances, age, gender, underlying health conditions including problem substance use/mental health conditions.

Potential mediators of effect: intervention fidelity, Normalization Process Theory constructs (Coherence (sense making); cognitive participation (engagement with intervention), collective action (confidence/acceptability of intervention/workability)); reflexive monitoring (appraisal/individual specification and reconfiguration). ED: Emergency department; GP: General practitioners; PEH: Persons experiencing homelessness; PHOENIX: Pharmacy Homeless Outreach Engagement Non-medical Independent prescribing Rx

# 1.2.1. Justification for participant population

PEH have complex health and social care needs. They have seven different health problems on average and most die in their early 40s. PEH readily access community pharmacies, but community pharmacies are not formally integrated in care pathways involving case finding, assessment, treatment, or referral.

# 1.2.2. Justification for design

Randomised controlled trials generate results that are considered to be the most valued data in the era of evidence-based practice. The underlying clinical service need driving this research project is to find out whether the proposed complex PHOENIx intervention improves outcomes in addition to usual primary health and social care. The clinical and economic impact, and the acceptability of complex interventions in comparison to usual care are best tested through a definitive RCT, with embedded economic and process evaluation, that has been preceded by a feasibility trial and then a pilot trial.

Therefore we propose a multicentre pilot RCT in advance of a definitive trial.

# 1.2.3. Justification for choice of intervention(s)

The active group intervention will be a composite of health (pharmacist) and third sector (homeless outreach worker) assertive outreach to people who are homeless and present to a community pharmacy. Given the requirement to evaluate whether this intervention in addition to usual care is beneficial, and as the comparator group cannot be denied usual care, the preferred comparator group intervention is usual care. Usual care is characterised by the range of services accessed and offered to participants who are homeless in Glasgow and Birmingham respectively.

# 1.2.4. Justification of choice of primary outcome(s)

Given this is a pilot study of a complex intervention, we have clinical, process, economic and health service utilisations, and social care outcomes. Our primary outcome is guided by established recommendations on the stages of complex intervention testing in particular (MRC guidance). Selection strategy for the primary outcome for a definitive trial will be informed by our answers to the objectives: patient/professional perceptions of the trial procedures including the outcomes; effect and sample sizes needed for possible outcomes e.g. Emergency Department visits; and estimates of outcome variability. Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) representatives will also be asked for their view on the choice of primary outcome for the main trial.

# 2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

# 2.1. Aim

To test the hypothesis that a pilot study of the PHOENIx intervention shows merit in progression to a definitive randomised controlled trial.

## 2.2. Trial objectives

Our objective is to undertake a pilot RCT to assess the feasibility of conducting a larger, definitive trial assessing an integrated clinical pharmacist / homeless third sector intervention (PHOENIx) delivered in a community pharmacy setting.

We aim to:

- 1. Determine recruitment and retention rates across community pharmacy sites
- 2. Measure intervention fidelity by PHOENIx team (weekly contacts with participants; assessment and intervention for health including mental health, physical health and problem substance use; housing; benefits and social activities) and intervention adherence by participants (uptake of recommendations).
- 3. Determine the event rates for outcomes proposed for the main trial (number of, and time to scheduled and unscheduled health care contacts; uptake and retention of treatment for problem substance use and other conditions; non-fatal overdoses; evidence-based treatment of physical health and mental health problems), and estimates of their variability.

# 2.2.1. Economic objectives

4. To explore whether relevant resource use and health state utility data (as a proxy for quality of life) can be identified, measured and valued appropriately for the purposes of conducting a full economic evaluation in a definitive trial.

## 2.2.2. Qualitative objectives

- 5. To evaluate the acceptability of randomisation and adherence with data collection procedures.
- 6. To explore participant and healthcare professional perceptions of the intervention and acceptability of trial procedures.
- 7. To explore participant, healthcare professional and stakeholder views of the likely facilitators and barriers to future implementation of the intervention as a form of routine service delivery.

# **3. TRIAL DESIGN AND SETTING**

### 3.1. Trial design

A randomised, multicentre, open, parallel group external pilot trial with parallel economic and qualitative process evaluation.

# 3.2. Trial setting

Glasgow and Birmingham city centre community pharmacies. Participating pharmacies will be located in parts of Glasgow and Birmingham city centre and immediate surrounding areas, where PEH are known to frequent. This limits our selection of pharmacies but both cities are big enough to offer a choice of locations, whether independent or multiple chain ownership pharmacies. Backup sites (other community pharmacies) will be asked to participate in the event that recruitment is slow in the each of the four main community pharmacies, during the first two weeks.

## 3.3. Sub-studies

# Economic evaluation

All health, social care and personal resource use data will be identified, measured and valued. We will explore the possibility of an economic evaluation incorporating a wider societal (or at least public service perspective) in line with the work already conducted to establish broader costs and benefits beyond the NHS [47]. We will explore the ability to use the EQ-5D-5L [49] among PEH and if necessary other outcome measures where it is not possible to use the EQ-5D-5L. Data passed to the economic analysis team (NHS Healthcare Improvement Scotland) will be anonymised.

# Qualitative evaluation

We will undertake semi-structured interviews with a purposive sample of 15-20 participants in the trial (including both intervention and control participants), 7-10 health professionals and approximately 10 stakeholders including commissioners/senior health board/ homelessness services policy makers and representatives from volunteer sectors, in order to explore their views on the trial methods and barriers and facilitators to future implementation.

We will use Normalisation Process Theory as our underpinning theoretical framework to help us conceptualise implementation issues and the effects of the intervention on the interplay between patient capacity and self-management workload which will help us refine our preliminary logic models in relation to the intervention. Interviews will be audiotaped with participant consent and transcribed to provide data for qualitative analysis.

The qualitative researchers (employed by Glasgow University) will regularly check the information entered onto the participant's care plan/clinical record by the pharmacist and compare these data against a checklist of the components of the intervention: physical health; mental health; addictions; housing; debt; and social activities. This will be used to provide iterative feedback to the intervention team to ensure fidelity and optimise delivery of the intervention, and in addition, will address intervention fidelity.

### 3.4. Assessment of risk

All clinical trials can be considered to involve an element of risk and in accordance with the Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit (BCTU) standard operating procedures this trial has been risk assessed to clarify any risks relating uniquely to this trial beyond that associated with usual care. A Risk Assessment has been conducted and concluded that this trial corresponds to the following categorisation:

Type A = No higher than the risk of standard medical care

# 4. ELIGIBILITY

# 4.1. Inclusion criteria

Adults ≥18 years and experiencing homelessness, who are attending or service users of one of the designated community pharmacies and able to provide informed consent as per the Health Research Authority (HRA) guidance on continued capacity [51].

Homelessness will cover rooflessness, houselessness, insecure or inadequate housing as per the ETHOS typology [50].

These criteria include:

- people staying in homeless shelters;
- rough sleepers;
- people staying in temporary accommodation such as bed and breakfasts (B&Bs), hostels, squats; or those sofa surfing between family and friends' houses.

### 4.2. Exclusion Criteria

- PEH living in accommodation with 24-hour support which includes in house medical care;
- Intoxicated or (in the opinion of the researcher) posing a safety risk to staff and lacking capacity to consent

#### 4.3. Co-enrolment

Co-enrolment is only allowed for non-interventional studies, such as cohort studies.

# 5. CONSENT

It is recognised that a proportion of the target population have conditions that may impair their capacity to provide informed consent e.g. severe mental illness, learning disability, intoxication or any other condition causing confusion or loss of cognitive decision-making capacity. Researchers consenting the participants will be experienced in the field of mental health, substance misuse and/or homelessness research or are likely to be experienced healthcare professionals e.g. qualified nurses, or pharmacy technicians, and will use their clinical judgement and Registered General Nurse / Technician standards of practice to adhere to The Mental Capacity Act 2005 (England) and Section 51 of the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 in identifying and excluding those individuals who may lack capacity to consent for themselves or who are under the influence of illicit substances, in recruiting for this pilot trial. As per the HRA guidelines, it will be the primary responsibility of the researcher (and in consultation with the CIs or community pharmacist where necessary) to assess the capacity to consent eligible persons by considering their ability to understand the information relevant to the decision, retain the information and use or weigh the information and communicate his or her decision (by any means) [51]. Like the general population, PEH presenting to the Community Pharmacy will be there for a reason, and that reason will generally be for prescription collection, request for help with their health, or to purchase goods to improve health. This suggests PEH with the potential to participate in the study will not be likely to have a significant impairment of, or a disturbance in the functioning of their mind or brain which makes consent problematic. If a patient has managed to attend the pharmacy for collection of medicines and answers to the community pharmacist when asked to present with their name and housing status (the norm during a transaction in the pharmacy), then this will suggest capacity is intact. This is an assessment that community pharmacists are used to making in their daily interactions with this population who tend to be their regular customers.

Consent will be sought from the PEH for both the main trial and the qualitative process evaluation at the same time. Informed consent will be obtained from staff delivering the interventions and stakeholders, to record qualitative interviews. All team members taking consent will have adequate training.

Given the high overlap between homelessness and substance misuse/severe mental health, research staff will be provided with training to help them manage and diffuse any perceived untowarduntoward behaviour from prospective participants during the recruitment process in the pharmacy.

The researchers will also assess continued capacity to consent during follow up visits as we acknowledge that health conditions of those affected by substance abuse and/or severe mental health can quickly fluctuate. Researchers will assess continued capacity based on their experience and training, The Mental Capacity Act 2005 (England) and Section 51 of the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000. Anyone assessed as permanently lacking capacity to consent at any time point will be withdrawn from the trial, but their data collected up to that point will be retained.

It is the responsibility of the Principal Investigator (PI) to obtain written informed consent for each participant prior to performing any trial related procedures. If the patient cannot read or write or has forgotten their reading glasses, the patient information and consent materials will be read to them by the researcher or pharmacy staff in the pharmacy. The consent conversation will be documented in the participants' notes and the consent form will be annotated to confirm the researcher completed it on behalf of the patient. The form can be initialled or thumb printed. This task can be delegated by the PI to other members of the local research team, if this responsibility has been documented in the site signature and delegation log.

A Participant Information Sheet (PIS) will be provided to facilitate this process. The PI or delegate will ensure that they adequately explain the aim of the trial, the trial intervention, and the anticipated benefits of taking part in the trial to the participant. They will also explain that participation is voluntary and that the participant is free to decide whether or not to take part and may withdraw from the trial at any time. The participant will be given sufficient time to read the PIS and to discuss their participation with others outside of the site research team. If they cannot read, the researcher will verbally explain the study to them. The participant will be given the opportunity to ask questions. If the participant then expresses an interest in participating in the trial, they will be asked to sign and date the latest version of the ICF. The PI or delegate will then sign and date the ICF. A copy of the ICF will be offered to the participant along with an alternative option to securely store it at the pharmacy on their behalf if they have no secure location to store it, a copy will be filed in the participant's GP and/or other medical notes and the original placed in the Investigator Site File (ISF). Once the participant is entered into the trial, the participant's trial number will be entered on the ICF maintained in the ISF. In addition, the participant understands and acknowledges that, a copy of the signed ICF will be securely transferred to the trial team at BCTU for review and storage.

Details of the informed consent discussions will be recorded in the participant's GP's medical notes where available (some participants may not have a registered GP in which case the participants will be referred to be registered with the homelessness general practice service in Birmingham and Glasgow). In addition to all details of consent being sent to BCTU by the research team, written records of the consent conversations will also be stored in participant files at NHS Glasgow and Clyde

and NHS Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health Foundations Trust. Researchers will also communicate consent information to the patient's addictions team, and in the patient's hospital record where possible.

Written consent conversations will include date of discussion, the name of the trial, summary of discussion, version number of the PIS given to participant, version number of ICF signed and date consent received. Where consent is obtained on the same day that the trial related assessments are due to start, a note should be made in any available medical notes as to what time the consent was obtained and what time the procedures started.

At each visit by the researcher, the participant's willingness to continue in the trial will be ascertained and documented within the trial case report forms (CRFs). Throughout the trial, the participant will have the opportunity to ask questions about the trial. Any new information that may be relevant to the participant's continued participation will be provided. Where new information becomes available which may affect the participants' decision to continue, participants will be given time to consider and if happy to continue they will be re-consented. Re-consent will be documented in the GP medical notes and/or alternative location as detailed above. The participant's right to withdraw from the trial will remain.

Electronic copies of the PIS and ICF will be available from the Trial Office and will be printed or photocopied onto the headed paper of the local institution. The ICF also contains additional statements for the participant to acknowledge that they understand that the Trial Office will, as part of the trial, collect participant data available in NHS routine clinical datasets, including primary care data (e.g., GP records, Scottish Ambulance Service call outs, Clinical Practice Research Datalink, The Health Improvement Network, QResearch and secondary care data through NHS Digital and other central UK NHS bodies. The participant will acknowledge that they understand that the Trial Office might send their name, any address of temporary accommodation, date of birth and NHS or Community Health Index number or any other identifier data available to the relevant national registry, and then for the national registry to link this to their data and send the information back to the Trial Office. The trial staff will have access to this data for the duration of the trial to enable data linkage. The acknowledgement by the participant will also allow access to other new central UK NHS databases that will appear in the future.

# 6. ENROLMENT, RANDOMISATION and BLINDING

# 6.1. Identification

PEH attending or who are users of participating Glasgow and Birmingham pharmacies will be approached by their care team (including but not limited to community pharmacists, addictions team), who will signpost them to thethe researcher in the pharmacy who can offer clients the study information or draw their attention to a poster in the pharmacy. Eligible participants will therefore meet the study researcher on site and receive the study information or if they cannot read, the researcher will verbally explain the study to them. In addition, pharmacy staff who know the patient to be homeless, can pass study information to them via an invitation pack, explain the study to them and refer any potentially eligible persons to the researchers. Posters and flyers advertising the study will be displayed in pharmacies, homeless charities, drug and alcohol services and temporary accommodations. Simon Community Scotland and SIFA Fireside Birmingham will also promote the study to their client base by speaking with patients or drawing their attention to posters displayed in the homeless hubs (located in Glasgow and Birmingham city centres respectively). Other health and social care services will disseminate the study through this same approach, and staff working in other services will be asked to signpost or refer patients to the pharmacy for consideration of participation in the study. Potential participants can return at a later date if more time is requested to decide on study participation.

# 6.2. Screening and enrolment

Information on the number of patients who enquire about the trial will be recorded on the PHOENIx Participant Screening/Enrolment Log which will be kept in the ISF, and should be available to be sent to the Trials Office upon request. The PHOENIx researcher, as delegated on the site signature and delegation log, will confirm study eligibility with potential participants after they have been signposted to the research team via the direct care team. The contractor pharmacist and researcher may work together to confirm eligibility prior to randomisation.

# 6.3. Randomisation

The local research team should add the participant to the PHOENIx Participant Recruitment and Identification Log which links participants with their Registration/Trial Number. The PHOENIx Participant Recruitment and Identification Log should be held in strict confidence. Randomisation will be provided by BCTU. The researcher will contact the randomisation line at BCTU by telephone. BCTU will ask a few questions to the researcher which they will record on the randomisation notepad. They will then confirm the participant's allocation and trial number (TNO) to the researcher over the phone and this will also be recorded on the randomisation notepad and database. A confirmation email of the allocation and TNO will be sent to the PI, CI and trial mailbox. Someone from BCTU should be available to take randomisation calls 8 hours a day, 5 days a week, apart from short periods of scheduled maintenance of the database, Monday to Friday, 09:00 to 17:00 UK time, except for bank holidays, government guided closures and University of Birmingham closed days.

### Randomisation method

Participants will be randomised at the level of the individual in a 1:1 ratio to either intervention or usual care. The randomisation list will be generated by an independent statistician at BCTU and will stratify by recruiting city (Glasgow or Birmingham), using permuted blocks of varying lengths.

# 6.4. Blinding

This will be an open trial design. It will not be possible to blind the participant or pharmacist/third sector worker due to the nature of the intervention. It will also not be possible to blind researchers at Birmingham or Glasgow delivering assessments as they will give the participant their allocation (Intervention or usual care) and the same researchers will be following up participants at 3 and 6 months.

### 6.5. Informing the participant's GP and other parties

If the participant has a GP and has agreed, then the participant's GP should be notified that they are in PHOENIx trial, using the PHOENIx GP Letter. If the participant is under the care of an addictions team then they will also be notified, via the PHOENIx Notification of participation letter.

# 7. TRIAL INTERVENTION

# 7.1. Trial intervention content

## Intervention content

In addition to the usual care, PHOENIx intervention will involve a structured face to face health and social care check [18] involving the participant, pharmacist and Simon Community Scotland/SIFA Fireside worker in the pharmacy or other venue. The consultation involves the pharmacist assessing physical, mental and problem drug use which includes any relevant near patient tests and/or clinical examination in a face-to-face setting. Full harm reduction interventions will be offered including: Injecting Equipment Provision, foils, Naloxone, sign posting to services to conduct a Dry Blood Spot Test for blood borne viruses, are offered as standard. The SCS/SF worker address housing, benefits, advocacy and social prescribing.

The SCS/SIFA Fireside worker asks about benefits, debt, accommodation and social activities. Following completion of the health and social check, the participant identifies their priorities for action, and the team work through these one at a time. Actions arising from the consultation are implemented over the subsequent weeks, again during face to face consultations. Prescribing is one component of our intervention undertaken where needed after a full health assessment. Any prescribing activities by the pharmacist will follow established clinical guidelines from National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE), Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) or local clinical guidelines or professional societies as appropriate. Referral to other services follows established, immediate referral pathways for conditions requiring specialist input, e.g. for mental health crisis presentations.

Both the pharmacist and support worker will be working in line with their normal practice and guidelines. Pharmacist independent prescribers will prescribe as normal within standard care.

Where it is legally required to do so, all potential participants will be required to complete a COVID screen at all visits prior to the visit commencing. If the screen is failed, the visit can be rescheduled for a future date. The following questions will be asked;

- do you or any person in your accommodation have a recent onset of: a new continuous cough or fever or loss of/change in taste or smell

- do you have any of these other symptoms; fatigue; sputum; shortness of breath; muscle aches; sore throat;

headache; chills; nasal congestion; nausea; diarrhoea;

- have you been in contact with anyone else who has symptoms of covid-19 or have you been self isolating over the

last 7 days

- is anyone in your accommodation in the vulnerable covid-19 group and/or shielding

- are you in agreement that we should go ahead with face to face consultation

Uptake of health and social care interventions will be maximised, and dropout minimised, through assertive outreach by the third sector charity worker to find participants in case of non- attendance at the pharmacy.

#### Duration

Based on our experience in the feasibility work, it will take approximately one hour for each consultation. The intervention period begins with the first consultation and will continue weekly during the study for up to 6 months if the participant and PHOENIx team think it is beneficial. Throughout the intervention the patient will continue to engage with mainstream care. When the intervention period finishes, the participant will return to receiving usual care alone. It will be stressed to the patient at recruitment, and during the intervention, that the PHOENIx input is fixed term, temporary, in addition to usual care, and is not a substitute for usual care.

## Frequency

The participant will agree a flexible schedule of visits at the first consultation with the pharmacist and the SCS/SF worker, but will re-present as and when they feel able, aiming for weekly (more or less often as required) contacts. While each patient will be offered 6 months of support, the frequency and duration of intervention will be tailored to the participant's needs.

After each researcher visit, the participant will receive a £10 shopping voucher as a token of appreciation for their participation.

#### Location

In the pharmacy's private consultation room. Based on the participant's preferences and ability to visit pharmacies, some visits can also happen as outreach in temporary accommodations, homeless hubs or community centres.

#### Staff delivering the intervention

Pharmacists working on this trial will be employed by their respective NHS trust. Staffwill be experienced pharmacist independent prescribers employed by NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, and Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health Foundations Trust; and experienced SIFA Fireside (Birmingham) and Simon Community Scotland (Glasgow) outreach workers from respective organisations. Where legally required to do so, personal protective equipment (PPE) will be worn by all research staff interacting with participants during their time in the trial. The intervention will always be delivered by the Pharmacist and third sector outreach worker in pairs, so that there is no lone working.

### Usual care

Participants allocated to usual care will not receive consultations from the PHOENIx team in the pharmacy or in any other venue, throughout the duration of the intervention phase. If allocated to usual care, the researcher will signpost or refer the participant should they identify urgent health care needs e.g. overdose, or likely infected venous leg ulcer needing dressing, during assessment. Consultations (frequency, location) with health and social care for usual care participants will be collected by researchers.

In both intervention and usual care groups, participants continue to obtain and seek care, treatment or help as usual. Both groups will have the same assessments. Bias is possible, although unavoidable, through signposting the usual care group to Emergency Department by the researcher (after conducting follow up assessments) or to other health and social care staff.

# 7.2. Continuation of intervention after the trial

It is likely that there will be no continuation of the intervention in Birmingham after the trial has ended. In Glasgow, the intervention may be continued, delivered by another NHS pharmacist working with a third sector support worker as other PHOENIx projects may be ongoing. In Glasgow, participants allocated to the usual care group will be offered the intervention if participants think they would benefit from it and if the intervention is available once their participation in the trial has ended.

The participants GP will be informed of any medications prescribed by the pharmacist independent prescribers to ensure the medication is continued if needed.

# 8. OUTCOME MEASURES

# 8.1. Feasibility (process) outcomes

The pilot trial outcomes are related to the feasibility of a subsequent substantive RCT.

We are primarily interested in whether:

- the trial is appealing to participants (assessed by the recruitment rate)
- the PHOENIx intervention is acceptable (measured by adherence)
- we are able to collect routine data required to evaluate the effectiveness of the intervention

### We will also evaluate:

the recruitment and randomisation processes. Specific feasibility outcomes related to these are listed in the first column of Table 1 below. These outcomes along with progression criteria will be considered by the Trial Oversight Committee (OC), to determine whether we should proceed to a subsequent definitive trial:
	Red (discuss with Oversight Committee and consider substantial changes before proceeding to the definitive trial)	Amber (discuss with Oversight Committee strategies for improvement and consider changes to processes before deciding whether to proceed to full trial)	Green (go ahead)
Recruitment			
Proportion of PEH (as assessed by the researchers) meeting eligibility criteria and agreeing to participate	<40%	40-50%	>50%
Retention			
Proportion of participants remaining in the study at 6 months	<50%	50-60%	>60%
Intervention adherence			
Proportion of participants attending >50% of intervention visits as planned (flexible schedule agreed at consultation)	<50%	50-60%	>60%
Outcome data			
Proportion of participants with Emergency Department visits and mortality data available at 6 months	<60%	60-70%	>70%
Proportion of patients with questionnaire booklets completed at 6 months	<50%	50-60%	>60%

The data collected in this pilot will help inform the sample size calculation for the definitive trial. We anticipate the primary outcome for the definitive RCT to be a composite outcome of Emergency Department visits and mortality.

### 8.2. Clinical outcomes

The following will be measured at 3 and 6 months post-randomisation:

- Number, time to and cause of Emergency Department /primary care general practice visits
- Number of Emergency Department /general practice visits
- Mortality
- Medication changes (prescribed) and taken (in the case of opioid substitution therapy where supervised)

- Number, time to, duration and cause of hospitalisations
- Intervention acceptability (qualitative process evaluation)
- Generic health related quality of life score and health thermometer score (EQ-5D-5L)
- Fried's adapted frailty phenotype
- Peak Expiratory Flow Rate, MRC Dyspnoea scale
- Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Assessment Test
- Blood pressure
- Temperature
- Pulse/heart rate

#### Social Care outcomes:

- Housing tenure including night shelters, emergency accommodation provided by the council or third sector, or care home
- Level of debt
- Criminal justice encounters

#### Addictions specific:

- Number of participants experiencing drug overdoses not requiring Emergency Department visit and number of overdoses
- Number of participants (and number of times) referred to drug and alcohol services, rehab, mental health and GP, and numbers attending subsequently
- Numbers and time to commencement on OST/Benzodiazepine/heroin assisted treatment and collecting ≥ 80% of daily doses
- Number of participants treated with and time to minimum therapeutic opioid substitution therapy dose
- Dose of opioid substitution therapy
- Number of missed appointments (with any team, including irregular discharges) and number of participants with missed appointments
- Number of people and days in prison/criminal justice encounters
- Number of threatening incidents involving pharmacy staff or other service users of pharmacy

#### 8.3. Economic evaluation

The items of resource use will include measures of drug/alcohol treatment uptake and treatment retention; overdose rates; mortality rates and time to death; number of missed appointments (with any team, including irregular discharges); number of people and days in prison/criminal justice encounters (self-reported); number, time to and cause of ED/primary care general practice visits; medication changes (prescribed and used); housing tenure; level of debt; number and duration of hospitalisations; patient reported measures and intervention acceptability.

We will explore the possibility of an evaluation incorporating a wider societal (or at least public service perspective) in line with the work already conducted to establish broader costs and benefits beyond the NHS [47]. The main measure of benefit explored will be the EQ-5D-5L, cross-walked to the EQ-5D-3L. We will also consider the impact of using the EQ-5D-5L value set.

If unanticipated issues arise in data collection that lead to it not being possible to use both the EQ-5D-5L data or the resource use data, the results of the economics work would simply summarise narratively where there have been successes in data collection for economic-relevant outcomes, compared to where this was less successful, in order to inform methods of data collection that are more likely to facilitate good response rates among PEH for future RCTs in this area.

## 8.4. Qualitative evaluation

#### Process evaluation and associated outcomes

The main outcome from the qualitative interviews will be whether the intervention and trial procedures are acceptable.

## 9. TRIAL PROCEDURES

A researcher will meet all participants at baseline (pre-randomisation) and then at 3- and 6-months post-randomisation to collect data on:

- 1. Medicines prescribed, dispensed and taken (in the case of opioid substitution therapy).
- 2. Co-morbidities.
- 3. Health related quality of life using EQ-5D-5L.
- 4. Peak Expiratory Flow Rate (PEFR) respiratory rate; modified MRC Dyspnoea scale.
- 5. Hand grip strength
- 6. COPD Assessment Test,
- 7. Blood pressure, temperature, heart rate/pulse oximeter
- 8. Resource use data: Frequency of GP visits, nurse visits, addictions and mental health team and other primary healthcare contacts; un/scheduled secondary healthcare contacts including missed appointments.
- 9. Adapted frailty phenotype.
- 10. Criminal justice encounters.
- 11. All changes to prescribing, treatments given, and referrals made by PHOENIx team during intervention.
- 12. All referrals made by researcher during baseline and follow up assessments, as a result of the researcher noticing acute health problems.
- 13. Height and weight

Through directly accessing patient records, and through data linkage (to inform whether this can be done on time in the context of a future RCT), we will request healthcare utilisation data including Emergency Department and in-patient hospitalisation data from National Records Scotland (Data Intelligence Division), NHS Digital (England), any other NHS database portals or local NHS Trusts and Clinical Commissioning Groups. We will access local healthcare Trusts and general practices to record GP data, Alcohol and Drug Recovery Services recording systems to collect consultations and prescribing for problem drug use. Due to the often chaotic nature of consultations with PEH, the PHOENIx team and researchers will enter data onto paper clinical recording forms, which will then be sent to Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit to enter onto the database.

Full details of the sources for the clinical data are listed in table 2. Data will be collected where possible to indicate feasibility for the main trial.

### Table 2: Sources of clinical feasibility data

Measure	Source
Number, time to and cause of Emergency Department visit	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde IT services; Emergency Departments in Birmingham City; NHS Digital; Integrated Care System (ICS) data; NRS, Ambulance Services in Scotland and England
Number, time to and cause of primary care general practice visits	Direct access to registered GP records; ICS data
Mortality rates and time to death	NRS Scotland data linkage; NHS Digital; GP records
Medication changes (prescribed) and taken (in the case of opioid substitution therapy where supervised)	GP records and alcohol and drug recovery services (ADRS) IT systems data; Community pharmacy patient medication records.
Number of participants with, cause, time to and duration of hospitalisations	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde IT services; NRS; NHS Digital; GP records
Patient reported events	Completed paper questionnaire
Intervention acceptability	Qualitative interview transcripts
Generic health related quality of life (EQ-5D-5L)	Paper completed EQ5D5L
Number of drug overdoses not requiring ED visit and number of participants with overdoses	Self-reported by participant on CRF, ADRS or other addictions services records such as Change Grow Live; accommodation providers' testimonies; GP records; ambulance records
Number of people (and number of times per person) referred to ADRS or addictions services, rehab, mental health and GP, and numbers attending subsequently	ADRS or other addictions services records such as Change Grow Live, NHS GG&C IT services, data linkage; Integrated Care System (ICS) data, GP records
Numbers and time to commencement on OST/Benzodiazepine/heroin assisted treatment and collecting ≥ 80% of daily doses	ADRS or other addictions services records such as Change Grow Live; NHS GG&C Addictions services clinical records data linkage; community pharmacy records; GP records
N° of participants treated with and time to minimum therapeutic opioid substitution therapy dose	ADRS or other addictions services records such as Change Grow Live, NHS GG&C IT services; data linkage; community pharmacy records; GP records

Treatment retention (number and duration of missed prescriptions for treatments for problem drug use)	Community pharmacy records; ADRS or other addictions services records such as Change Grow Live
Dose of opioid substitution therapy	ADRS or other addictions services records such as Change Grow Live; NHS GG&C IT services; data linkage; community pharmacy records
N° of missed appointments (with any team, including irregular discharges) and number of participants with missed appointments	NHS GG&C IT services; ADRS or other addictions services such as Change Grow Live and mental health; team records; GP records
PEFR	Participants from paper case report forms
Adapted frailty phenotype	Participants from paper case report forms
MRC dyspnoea scale	Participants from paper case report forms
COPD assessment test	Participants from paper case report forms

## Table 3: Social Care Outcomes

Measure	Source
Criminal justice encounters	Self-reported on paper forms, Spring Housing Offenders Hub; Homelessness support hubs including SIFA Fireside and Simon Community Scotland
Housing tenure including night shelters, emergency accommodation provided by the council or third sector, or care homes	Simon Community Scotland; SIFA Fireside caseworkers, rough sleepers outreach team in Birmingham, partners like Tabor House providing night shelters; City Council Housing Officers based at SIFA Fireside and temporary accommodations/ hostels
Level of debt (self-reported, and from social security records where possible)	Simon Community Scotland records; Specialist Tenancy Worker; Adult Support Hub caseworkers based at SIFA.
Number of people and days in prison/criminal justice encounters	Scottish Prison Service (Prisons in GG&C only); Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health Foundations Trust

### 9.1. Schedule of assessments

## Table 4: Schedule of Assessments

		Baseline	Month 3	Month 6
Visit	Screening			
Eligibility check	x			
Valid informed consent	x	x	x	x
Relevant medical history taken		x	x	x
Concomitant medication		x	x	x
Randomisation		x		
Baseline CRF		x		
3 month CRF			x	
6 month CRF				x
Qualitative Interviews*			x	x

\*15-20 intervention participants will be selected. Interviews will be conducted after baseline but before month 6

### 9.2. Withdrawal and changes in levels of participation

Informed consent is defined as the process of learning the key facts about a clinical trial before deciding whether or not to participate. It is a continuous and dynamic process and participants should be asked about their ongoing willingness to continue participation at all visits. Capacity of the participant to continue in the trial will be assessed by the study researcher during follow up for the duration of the participant's time in the trial. If a participant is assessed to have permanently lost capacity, then they will be withdrawn from the trial. Data collected until withdrawal will be kept. This will be noted in their trial case report forms and on any records available (as per the consent section). Participants should be aware from the beginning that they can freely withdraw (cease to participate) from the trial at any time. A participant may wish to cease to participate in a particular aspect of the trial.

Participants found to be ineligible post randomisation should be followed up according to all trial processes and will still have their data analysed unless they explicitly change their level of participation.

The changes in levels of participation within the trial are categorised in the following ways:

<u>No trial intervention</u>: The participant would no longer like to receive the trial intervention, but is willing to be followed up in accordance with the schedule of assessments and if applicable using any central UK NHS bodies for long-term outcomes (i.e., the participant has agreed that data can be collected and used in the trial analysis).

**No trial related follow-up:** The participant does not wish to attend trial visits in accordance with the schedule of assessments, but is willing to be followed up at standard clinic visits and if applicable using any central UK NHS bodies for long-term outcomes (i.e., the participant has agreed that data can be collected at standard clinic visits and used in the trial analysis, including data collected as part of long-term outcomes).

<u>No further data collection</u>: The participant is not willing to be followed up in any way for the purposes of the trial AND does not wish for any further data to be collected (i.e., only data collected prior to any changes of levels in participation can be used in the trial analysis).

The details of changes of levels in participation within trial (date, reason and category of status change) should be clearly documented on the change of status CRF.

For the qualitative process evaluation, participants will have 5 days to request their interview data is removed.

**Switch from usual care to intervention group**: see above, with example given of case where patient needs emergency treatment at follow up or any time thereafter in pharmacy. In these circumstances, patient will be withdrawn from the trial.

# **10. ADVERSE EVENT REPORTING**

We do not anticipate any safety concerns arising as a result of this intervention and as such we do not need to monitor AEs to assess the interventions safety. There is no reason to assume that this trial will lead to any AEs related to the intervention. AEs are being collected as part of outcome measures and hence monitoring of AE due to the intervention is not anticipated. AEs collected as part of outcome measures will include:

- Overdose incidents
- Hospital admissions for less than 24 hours
- Alcohol withdrawal symptoms
- Any serious adverse drug reactions resulting from the medicines prescribed\*

During follow-up, we will systematically collect self-reported data as part of the clinical outcomes, from participants regarding admissions to hospital requiring an overnight admission and the reasons for this. We will also capture whether there have been any deaths and cause of death. These will be reviewed by the Trial Oversight Committee at regular intervals.

Safety issues are expected to be no different from those experienced in routine care, when medicines are prescribed by the participant's GP. Pharmacist independent prescribers are required to follow National clinical guidelines from NICE, SIGN or local clinical guidelines or professional society guidelines as appropriate and use the same treatment algorithms, and ask the participants to attend for the same schedule of monitoring e.g. 6 monthly blood tests for liver function in the case of antipsychotics. Any medication prescribed will be reviewed and monitored by the usual care team. The decision to continue any medications will be the responsibility of the usual care team.

# **11. DATA HANDLING AND RECORD KEEPING**

#### 11.1.Source data

Source data is defined as all information in original records and certified copies of original records of clinical findings, observations, or other activities in a clinical trial necessary for the reconstruction and evaluation of the trial. In order to allow for the accurate reconstruction of the trial and clinical management of participants, source data will be accessible and maintained.

Some data variables may be entered directly onto the CRF, these are clearly identified and detailed below in Table 6:

<u>Data</u>	<u>Source</u>
Participant Reported Outcomes	The original participant-completed CRF is the source and will be kept with the participant's trial record at site, whilst copies will be provided to the trial office.

Table 6: Source data in PHOENIx (excluding clinical feasibility data)

Blood pressure	The routine clinic blood pressures of trial participants at various time points will be available through blood pressure checks undertaken by the PHOENIx research team.
Temperature	Thermometer, from case record form, undertaken by the PHOENIx research team.
Heart Rate/pulse	Pulse oximeter, undertaken by the PHOENIx research team.
Respiratory rate	Manual count and clock, undertaken by the PHOENIx research team.
Peak Flow rate	Peak Flow Meter, undertaken by the PHOENIx research team.
Health economics data	Obtained by discussions directly with the participants for transcription into CRF and this will constitute the source data.
Recruitment	The original record of the randomisation is the source. It is held on BCTU servers as part of the randomisation and data entry system.
Withdrawal	Where a participant expresses a wish to withdraw, the conversation must be recorded in the CRF. The CRF will be the data source.
Qualitative Interviews	Interviews will be recorded and transcribed clean verbatim for analysis. The recording is the source.

## **11.2.** Case Report Form (CRF) completion

The CRFs will include (but will NOT be limited to) the following forms (see Table 7: Case report forms in PHOENIx 7).

#### Table 7: Case report forms in PHOENIx

Form Name	Schedule for submission
Consent and Randomisation CRF	At the point of randomisation
Baseline and follow-up CRFs including participant reported outcome measures	As soon as possible after each follow-up assessment time point
Change of status CRF	As soon as possible after the point of reduced participation or death

A CRF should be completed for each individual participant.

In all cases it remains the responsibility of the PI to ensure that the CRF has been completed correctly and that the data are accurate. This will be evidenced by the signature of the PI, or delegate(s). The Site Signature & Delegation Log will identify all those personnel with responsibilities for data collection.

The delegated staff completing the CRF should ensure the accuracy, completeness and timeliness of the data reported. This will be evidenced by signing and dating the CRF.

Data reported on each CRF will be consistent with the source data and any discrepancies will be explained. Staff delegated to complete CRFs will be trained to adhere to PHOENIx Trial working instructions.

The following guidance applies to data and partial data:

- Only CRFs provided by the Trial Office should be used.
- Original completed CRFs or true copies should be sent to the Trial Office with copies filed in the ISF.
- Entries should be made in dark ink and must be legible.
- Any errors should be crossed out with a single stroke, the correction inserted and the change initialled and dated.
- Time format all times should be in accordance with the 24hr clock
- Rounding conventions rounding should be to the nearest whole number: If the number you are rounding is followed by 5, 6, 7, 8, or 9, round the number up. **Example**: 3.8 rounded to the nearest whole number is 4. If the number you are rounding is followed by 1, 2, 3 or 4, round the number down. **Example**: 3.4 rounded to the nearest whole number is 3
- Trial-specific interpretation of data fields where guidance is needed additional information will be supplied
- Entry requirements for concomitant medications (generic or brand names) generic names should be used where possible
- Missing/incomplete data should be clearly indicated all blank fields will be queried by the Trial Office
- Repeat laboratory tests the data used to inform clinical decisions should always be supplied. If a test is repeated it is either to confirm or clarify a previous reading. Confirmatory tests should use the original test values.
- Protocol and GCP non-compliances should be reported to the Trial Office on discovery.

On completion, a copy or a scan of each form will be submitted to the Trial Office and the original filed in the ISF.

#### **11.3.**Participant completed questionnaires

Participant completed questionnaires will be completedduring pharmacy consultations or alternative locations agreed by the study researcher and the participant. These could include third sector support hub, participant accommodations or soup kitchens. The researcher or the pharmacist will oversee the completion of the questionnaire. Missing data will be identified via a check by the researcher prior to the participant leaving. If any missing data is identified at this point then the participant will be asked to complete it prior to leaving. Any missing data identified after the participant has left will remain missing.

#### 11.4.Data management

Processes will be employed to facilitate the accuracy and completeness of the data included in the final report. These processes will be detailed in the trial specific Data Management Plan and include the processes of data entry, data queries and self-evident corrections on trial data.

Data entry will be completed by the sites on paper and sent to BCTU to be entered. The data capture system will conduct automatic range checks for specific data values to ensure high levels of data quality. Queries will be raised using data clarification forms (DCFs) via the trial database, with the expectation that these queries will be completed by the site within 30 days of receipt. Overdue data entry and data queries will be requested on a monthly basis.

### **11.5.Self-evident corrections**

The below self-evident corrections will be permitted by the Trial Office:

**Contingent fields:** When a response to a question determines, to a degree, the response required by a second question, then conflicts in the responses can be resolved by the data entry clerk. E.g., Has the person had procedure "x"? If yes, state type. If the response to the first question is "no", yet the type of procedure is stated, it is self-evidently true that the initial response was incorrect.

**Changes to administrative notes and reference numbers**: when new information becomes available such that a reference number does not accurately reflect the sequence of CRFs received, then it is appropriate to change the reference number provided no DCFs have been raised using the original number. Similarly, any notes relating to the participant care which have an impact on the administration process, but not the data fields themselves, can be changed as appropriate.

## 11.6.Data security

University of Birmingham, and University of Glasgow in relation to the qualitative work, have policies in place, which are designed to protect the security, accuracy, integrity and confidentiality of Personal Data. The trial will be registered with the Data Protection Officer at Birmingham. Data at both institutions will be held in accordance with the Data Protection Act (2018 and subsequent amendments). The Trial Office has arrangements in place for the secure storage and processing of the trial data which comply with data security policies at the relevant institution.

The Trial Database System incorporates the following security countermeasures:

**Physical security measures:** restricted access to the building, supervised onsite repairs and storages of back-up tapes/disks are stored in a fire-proof safe.

Logical measures for access control and privilege management: including restricted accessibility, access controlled servers, separate controls of non-identifiable data.

<u>Network security measures</u>: including site firewalls, antivirus software and separate secure network protected hosting.

<u>System management</u>: the system will be developed by the Programming Team at the Trial Office, and will be implemented and maintained by the Programming Team.

<u>System design</u>: the system will comprise of a database and a data entry application with firewalls, restricted access, encryption and role based security controls.

**Operational processes:** the data will be processed and stored within BCTU. Qualitative data will be held at Glasgow University and their processes will be followed for secure data storage there.

**System audit:** The system will benefit from the following internal/external audit arrangements:

- Internal audit of the system
- Periodic IT risk assessment

Data Protection Registration: UoB's Data Protection Registration number is Z6195856.

### 11.7.Archiving

It is the responsibility of the PI to ensure all essential trial documentation and source documents (e.g., signed ICFs, Investigator Site Files, Pharmacy Files, participants' clinical notes, copies of CRFs) at their site are securely retained for the contractual period. Archiving will be authorised by BCTU on behalf of UoB following submission of the end of trial report. No documents should be destroyed without prior approval from the BCTU Director or their delegate.

The Trial Master File (TMF) will be stored at BCTU for at least 3 years after the end of the trial. Longterm offsite data archiving facilities will be considered for storage after this time; data will be stored securely and confidentially for at least 10 years. The University of Glasgow will also store their collected data for at least 10 years. BCTU has standard processes for both hard copy and computer database legacy archiving.

# **12. QUALITY CONTROL AND QUALITY ASSURANCE**

### 12.1.Site set-up and initiation

All PIs will be asked to sign the necessary agreements including a Site Signature and Delegation log between the PI and the Trial Office and provide evidence of relevant training to carry out their delegated duties. All members of the site research team are required to sign the Site Signature and Delegation Log, which details which tasks have been delegated to them by the PI. The Site Signature and Delegation Log should be kept up to date by the PI. It is the PI's responsibility to inform the Trial Office of any changes in the site research team.

Prior to commencing recruitment, each recruiting site will undergo a process of site initiation, either a meeting or a tele/video conference, at which key members of the site research team are required to attend, covering aspects of the trial design, protocol procedures, adverse event reporting, collection and reporting of data and record keeping. Sites will be provided with an ISF containing essential documentation, instructions, and other documentation required for the conduct of the trial.

## 12.2.Monitoring

The central and on-site monitoring requirements for this trial have been developed in conjunction with the trial specific risk assessment and are documented in the trial specific monitoring plan.

## 12.2.1. On-site monitoring

For this trial, all sites will be monitored in accordance with the trial risk assessment and monitoring plan. Any monitoring activities will be reported to the Trial Office and any issues noted will be followed up to resolution. Additional on-site monitoring visits may be triggered. PIs and site research teams will allow the PHOENIx trial staff access to source documents as requested. The monitoring will be conducted by BCTU/UoB staff.

## 12.2.2. Central monitoring

The Trial Office will check received ICFs and CRFs for compliance with the protocol, data consistency, missing data and timing at a frequency and intensity determined by the Data Management Plan. Sites will be sent DCFs requesting missing data or clarification of inconsistencies or discrepancies.

### 12.3.Audit and inspection

The Investigator will permit trial-related monitoring, audits, ethical review, and regulatory inspection(s) at their site and provide direct access to source data/documents. The investigator will comply with these visits and any required follow-up. Sites are also requested to notify the Trial Office of any relevant inspections or local audits.

#### **12.4.Notification of Serious Breaches**

The sponsor is responsible for notifying the Research Ethics Committee (REC) of any serious breach of the conditions and principles of GCP in connection with that trial or of the protocol relating to that trial. Sites are therefore requested to notify the Trial Office of any suspected trial-related serious breach of GCP and/or the trial protocol as soon as they become aware of them. Where the Trial Office is investigating whether or not a serious breach has occurred, sites are also requested to cooperate with the Trial Office in providing sufficient information to report the breach to the REC where required and in undertaking any corrective and/or preventive action.

Sites may be suspended from further recruitment in the event of serious and persistent noncompliance with the protocol and/or GCP, and/or poor recruitment.

## **13. END OF TRIAL DEFINITION**

The end of trial will be the date of the last data capture including resolution of DCFs. This will allow sufficient time for the completion of protocol procedures, data collection and input and data cleaning. The Trial Office will notify the REC and the Sponsor within 90 days of the end of trial. Where the trial has terminated early, the Trial Office will notify the REC and sponsor within 15 days of the end of trial. The Trial Office will provide the REC and the Sponsor with a summary of the clinical trial report within 12 months of the end of trial.

# **14. STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS**

#### 14.1 Sample size

The sample size calculation is based around two of the main feasibility objectives: rate of recruitment and retention. We plan to recruit and randomise 100 participants. If the total number of eligible persons is 200, this will allow measurement of the recruitment rate with a 95% confidence interval width of approximately 14%. If 70% of those recruited are followed up in terms of measuring ED visits, this will allow measurement of the rate with 95% confidence interval width of approximately 18%.

### 14.2 Analysis of outcomes

A separate Statistical Analysis Plan will be produced and will provide a more comprehensive description of the planned statistical analyses. A brief outline of the planned analyses is given below:

Feasibility measures will be analysed using appropriate summary measures including proportions, along with 95% confidence intervals (based on a normal approximation method for one sample proportions) to describe uncertainty.

For clinical measures, the study sample size is too small to allow reliable analysis of the effect of the intervention on outcomes. No hypothesis testing will be performed and the analysis will be limited to estimates of effects size and measures of uncertainty where appropriate. The primary comparison groups will be composed of those randomised to the trial intervention (PHOENIx health and social care check) versus those randomised to the control group (usual care). In the first instance, all analyses will be based on the intention to treat principle, i.e., all participants will be analysed in the intervention group to which they were randomised irrespective of adherence to randomised intervention or protocol deviations. Appropriate summary statistics and differences between groups (e.g., mean differences, relative risks, absolute differences) will be presented, with 95% confidence intervals. A log-binomial regression model will be used for binary outcomes and a linear regression model used for continuous outcomes.

## 14.2.1. Planned subgroup analyses

No subgroup analysis will be undertaken.

## 14.2.2. Missing data and sensitivity analyses

There is a potential for some missing data to occur at follow-up. However, in this context, this is part of the assessment of the success of the study and imputation of missing responses is not proposed.

## 14.3.Planned final analyses

The primary analysis for the trial will occur once all participants have completed their 6 month assessment and corresponding outcome data has been entered onto the trial database and validated as being ready for analysis.

## **15. HEALTH ECONOMICS**

A separate Health Economics Analysis Plan will be produced and will provide a more comprehensive description of the planned analyses. A brief outline of these analyses is given below.

## 15.1.Within-trial economic evaluation

A resource use questionnaire will identify, measure and value all health, social care and personal resource use data. The responses will cover the number of people incurring each resource and the number of times each resource was incurred by each person who experienced it, since the previous administration of the same questionnaire (except for baseline where it will be the previous month).

The items of resource use will include measures of drug/alcohol treatment uptake and treatment retention; overdose rates; mortality rates and time to death; number of missed appointments (with

any team, including irregular discharges); number of people and days in prison/criminal justice encounters (self-reported); number, time to and cause of Emergency Department/primary care general practice visits; medication changes (prescribed and used); housing tenure; level of debt; number and duration of hospitalisations; patient reported measures and intervention acceptability. We will also explore the possibility of an evaluation incorporating a wider societal (or at least public service perspective) at least in a sensitivity analysis. All resources will be quantified in Pounds Sterling, for the most recent price year available at the time of the analysis.

We will summarise total costs (i.e. health, social care and personal resource use), and also provide disaggregated costs for individual resource use items (where the resource is incurred sufficiently frequently that patient confidentiality is protected) and make clear how we have defined which costs fall within the categories of 'health', 'social care' and 'personal resource use' (and other public sector/societal costs if measurement has proved possible). We will calculate total costs for each individual in the intervention and usual care arms of the trial, in order to derive average costs for each trial arm.

We will use the EQ-5D-5L to evaluate the potential health benefits of the PHOENIx intervention. Although there are known difficulties associated with collecting this outcome among PEH, the research team have prior experience of collecting this outcome measure for this intervention.

Enhanced understanding of the acceptability and frequency of EQ-5D instrument data collection gained from this pilot trial will provide further insight as to the ability to generate Quality Adjusted Life Years (QALYs) for use alongside the cost data with PEH to give an indicative picture of costeffectiveness. This indicative picture would require first using the cross-walk of the EQ-5D-5L data to the 3L in order to generate consistent values with previous research, as the value set for EQ-5D-5L is very new. However, we will also explore the use of the 5L value set for the UK if possible.

Should we encounter pragmatic difficulties in data collection that make it not possible to use the EQ-5D data, we will consider how benefits could be measured via a cost consequence analyses using the resource use data, in line with measuring benefits in terms of e.g. cumulative bed days avoided, as was done by Cornes et al [49]. We will explore other outcomes that may be more relevant than beddays avoided given this is a community-based intervention, e.g. emergency department visits avoided.

It is possible that the pilot study sample data may not provide enough information for analysis, and if this occurs we are willing to explore the application of Value of Information (VOI) techniques to the data. The extent to which this is possible depends on whether or not enough information for the proposed analysis is available from the collected data, as well as additional parameters about the underlying population (e.g. accurate data on prevalence which may be underestimated by routine data sources reliant on people presenting to services).

If it is not possible to conduct a value of information analysis within the capacity limits and timeframe agreed, we will still strive to use similar techniques to support decision-makers with view to future development of a full RCT. This could take the form, for example, of a threshold analysis for a particular parameter, with the results explored within the context of the existing published

evidence base for this or similar interventions in primary care settings, and/or an exploration of methods used in the wider literature to address possible confounding in RCTs undertaken among similar study populations (i.e. with complex but potentially highly variable care needs even at baseline).

### 15.2. Model-based economic evaluation

No model-based economic evaluation is proposed for this pilot RCT. However, we may utilise some of the methods used in model-based economic evaluations to supplement the within-trial analysis as described above (e.g. a more detailed exploration of the existing published evidence base in order to inform uncertainty in a particular parameters). If this occurs, we will use standard good practice methods to undertake searches.

## **16. SUB-STUDIES**

There will be an economic evaluation and qualitative sub study conducted as part of this pilot study.

### Process evaluation and associated outcomes

The qualitative researchers (employed by Glasgow University) will check the information entered onto a randomly selected subset of participant's care plan/clinical record by the pharmacist by reviewing anonymised clinical care records kept by the PHOENIx team and transferred to the qualitative team. The qualitative researchers will then compare these data against a checklist of the components of the intervention: physical health; mental health; addictions; housing; debt; and social activities. This will be used to provide iterative feedback to the intervention team to ensure fidelity and optimise delivery of the intervention, and in addition, will address intervention fidelity.

We will also undertake semi-structured interviews with a purposive sample of 15-20 trial participants, 7-10 health professionals and up to approximately 10 stakeholders, including commissioners/ senior health board / homelessness services policy makers and representatives from volunteer sectors, in order to explore their views on the trial methods and barriers and facilitators to future implementability. The coinvestigators will use Interviews will be audiotaped with encrypted recorders with participant consent and transcribed to provide data for qualitative analysis.

We will use Normalisation Process Theory as our underpinning theoretical framework to help us conceptualise implementation issues and the effects of the intervention on the interplay between patient capacity and self-management workload which will help us refine our preliminary logic models in relation to the intervention. Interview transcripts will be analysed thematically and the data conceptualised through a Normalisation Process Theory, an implementation theory which consists of with four constructs: coherence (sense making); cognitive participation (engagement); collective action (operationalisation) and reflexive monitoring (appraisal) [52].

#### Patient and professional interview process

A researcher will contact patients and professionals the day before the interview, to remind the time and venue for the interviews. The interviews will be held either in a patient's homeless venue if known or in the pharmacy or at a location of the interviewee's preference.

Interviews will adhere to the lone working policies of each NHS location.

At the beginning the researcher will explain the ground rules, such as:

- Explaining there are no right or wrong ideas, but that it is the interviewees perspectives that are of interest
- Everything said will be considered absolutely confidential
- Explanation of the recording and note taking and data protection
- The interview can be stopped at any time should a person request it

If they have inquiries, they will be invited to discuss with a researcher. Informed verbal consent will be taken before each interview starts and also will be recorded digitally. The interview will start with an easy and open question which will be followed by asking key questions from the topic guide. Participants can ask for a break if he or she want. Any hesitations and non-verbal communications will be noted and prompted as appropriate.

The duration of interview is likely to be 30 to 60 minutes each.

# **17. TRIAL ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE**

### 17.1. Sponsor

The Sponsor for this trial is the University of Birmingham (UoB).

### **17.2. Coordinating centre**

The trial coordinating centre (Trial Office) is Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit (BCTU), based at UoB.

#### 17.3. Trial Management Group

The Trial Management Group (TMG) comprises individuals responsible for the day-to-day management of the trial: the co-CIs, statisticians, trial team leader, trial manager and data manager. The role of the group is to monitor all aspects of the conduct and progress of the trial, ensure that the protocol is adhered to and take appropriate action to safeguard participants and the quality of the trial itself. The TMG will meet sufficiently frequently to fulfil its function.

#### **17.4. Co-investigator group**

The Co-investigator group, an extended TMG, will comprise all members of the co-applicant group and the members of the TMG to review progress, troubleshoot and plan strategically.

## 17.5. Independent Trial Oversight Committee (TOC)

Oversight of the PHOENIx trial will be provided by an independent TOC. The TOC will meet via teleconference/face-to-face approximately twice a year or as required depending on the needs of the trial.

Membership and duties/responsibilities are outlined in the TOC Terms of Reference. In summary, the TOC will provide overall oversight of the trial, including the practical aspects of the trial, as well as ensuring that the trial is run in a way which is both safe for the participants and provides appropriate feasibility data to the sponsor and investigators.

The intervention is considered low risk. This is a general population and no adverse events are expected as a result of the intervention. An emergency meeting may however be convened if a safety issue is identified.

### 17.6. Finance

The research costs of the trial are funded by NIHR HS&DR awarded to Dr Vibhu Paudyal, University of Birmingham. The trial has been designed to minimise extra 'service support' costs for participating sites as far as possible. Additional costs, service support costs and excess intervention costs associated with the trial, e.g., gaining consent, are estimated in the SoECAThave been calculated and funding identified within the relevant Trusts.

## **18. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS**

The trial will be conducted in accordance with the UK Policy Framework for Health and Social Care Research and applicable UK Acts of Parliament and Statutory Instruments (and relevant subsequent amendments), which include the Data Protection Act 2018, the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (England) and Section 51 of the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000, and the Principles of GCP as set out in the UK Statutory Instrument (2004/1031; and subsequent amendments). The protocol will be submitted to and approved by the REC prior to the start of the trial.

All correspondence with the REC will be retained in the TMF/ISF, and an annual progress report will be submitted to the REC and sponsor within 30 days of the anniversary date on which the favourable opinion was given by the REC, and annually until the trial is declared ended. A trial-specific risk assessment and monitoring plan will be developed before submission to the REC and sponsor and will be reviewed regularly during the trial.

Before any participants are enrolled into the trial, the PI at each site is required to obtain the necessary local approval.

It is the responsibility of the PI to ensure that all subsequent amendments gain the necessary local approval. This does not affect the individual clinicians' responsibility to take immediate action if thought necessary to protect the health and interest of individual participants.

# **19. DATA PROTECTION AND CONFIDENTIALITY**

Personal data and sensitive personal data recorded on all documents will be regarded as strictly confidential and will be handled and stored in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 (and subsequent amendments) and per UoB guidance on secure password protected servers. Physical data (paper CRFs) will stored in locked filing cabinets in a secure swipe card access building.

Personal data categories that will be collected and analysed include name, date of birth, NHS number, email or postal address (if applicable). We will also collect some sensitive personal data that will include gender, ethnicity, health information, medical history and drug use. Personal data will be deleted in a timely fashion once analysis has been completed.

Participants will only be identified by their unique trial identification number in any correspondence between the site and BCTU. Participants will give their explicit consent for the movement and storage of their consent form, giving permission for BCTU to be sent a copy. Participants will provide their personal contact details to the central research team at BCTU so they are able to contact the participants for follow up questionnaires. Participants will acknowledge the transfer of their personal data to NHS Digital, NRS (National Records Scotland), or other central UK NHS bodies or NHS data portals, ambulance services, Simon Community Scotland, SIFA fireside and University of Glasgow who will be processing data on behalf of the trial. Identifiable information will never be transported or transferred with pseudonymised data collection forms. At the end of the study all personal data will be deleted and only anonymised data will be archived.

BCTU will maintain the confidentiality of all participant's data and will not disclose information by which participants may be identified to any third party, with the exception of the transcription service, NRS, SCS, SIFA, ambulance services, NHS Digital and any other NHS bodies or data portals. For 3<sup>rd</sup> sector charities, information will be only what is sufficient to identify the participant. A professional transcription company that already works with the University of Glasgow will transcribe the audio files. This company will be required to sign a confidentiality agreement before any files are sent to them and we will request that audio files are deleted after the transcription is complete. A member of the research team will check the transcripts once received from the transcription company and remove any names/ identifiers from the documents. Once the accuracy of the transcriptions has been confirmed, the original recordings will be deleted. All transfers will be done securely and according to University of Glasgow's IT guidance.

NHS Digital and other third party organisations listed above will need to be sent identifiers for them to provide us with the information necessary. Details of what data will be shared with NHS Digital will be contained in the PIS and consent will be sought from the participant to allow this. Data linkage will stop once analysis has been completed.

In the case of specific issues and/or queries from the regulatory authorities, it will be necessary to have access to the complete trial records. Representatives of the PHOENIx trial team and sponsor may be required to have access to participants' notes for quality assurance purposes, but participants should be reassured that their confidentiality will be respected at all times. The Trial Office will maintain the confidentiality of all participant data and will not disclose information by which participants may be identified to any third party.

# **20. FINANCIAL AND OTHER COMPETING INTERESTS**

There are no financial or other competing interests related to the results of this trial. Members of the TOC are required to provide declarations on potential competing interests as part of their membership of the committee. Authors are similarly required to provide declarations at the time of submission to publishers.

# **21. INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY**

The University has in force a Public Liability Policy and/or Clinical Trials policy which provides cover for claims for "negligent harm" and the activities here are included within that coverage.

With respect to the conduct of the trial at Site and other clinical care of the patient, responsibility for the care of the participants remains with the NHS organisation responsible for the Clinical Site and is therefore indemnified through the NHS Litigation Authority.

## **22. POST-TRIAL CARE**

The PHOENIx intervention may be able to continue in Glasgow (funded out with the trial) however there will be no intervention continuation in Birmingham.

# **23. END OF TRIAL DEFINITION**

The end of trial will be six months after the last data capture (i.e. 6 months after the date at which the last participant has completed their 6 month follow up.) The BCTU trial team will notify the main REC and Sponsor that the trial has ended and a summary of the clinical trial report will be provided within 12 months of the end of trial.

# **24. ACCESS TO FINAL DATASET**

The final dataset will be available to members of the Trial Management and co-applicant group who need access to the data to undertake the final analyses.

Requests for data generated during this study will be considered by BCTU. Data will typically be available six months after the primary publication unless it is not possible to share the data (for example: the trial results are to be used as part of a regulatory submission, the release of the data is subject to the approval of a third party who withholds their consent, or BCTU is not the controller of the data).

Only scientifically sound proposals from appropriately qualified Research Groups will be considered for data sharing. The request will be reviewed by the BCTU Data Sharing Committee in discussion with the CIs and, where appropriate (or in absence of the CIs) any of the following: the Trial Sponsor, the relevant Trial Management Group (TMG), and independent TOC.

A formal Data Sharing Agreement (DSA) may be required between respective organisations once release of the data is approved and before data can be released. Data will be fully de-identified (anonymised) unless the DSA covers transfer of participant identifiable information. Any data transfer will use a secure and encrypted method.

# **25. DISSEMINATION AND PUBLICATION PLAN**

#### Dissemination

We will prepare a final study report and share this with the funder. The report will also be available on the study website. We plan to share the pilot study results with relevant stakeholders with the aim of further engagement and support for the main study.

We will also present and share our findings directly with patients in pharmacies, accommodation sites, and low threshold venues in Glasgow and Birmingham. Our research team represent local and

national constituents and stakeholders in addictions, recovery groups, criminal justice, homelessness, general practice, academia and pharmacy.

#### Publication

The findings will be published in medical journals, presented at national scientific meetings and made available through websites of professional societies and national charities e.g. Shelter, Crisis. Journal manuscripts will be prepared by the writing group as defined in the trial publication plan. Manuscripts should be submitted to the TMG in a timely fashion and in advance of being submitted for publication to allow time for review. The PPI representatives within our research team will help distribute our findings through their networks and homelessness and inclusion health networks in the UK and the North America. Academic networks, public health practice networks, NHS Scotland and NHS England connections will be informed of our findings. These strategies will facilitate transition to the main study and implementation of services.

Summary results will be made available for research participants upon request through the participating homelessness organisations namely, SIFA and Simon Community.

It is anticipated that all co-investigators including trial team members from BCTU will contribute to the writing and editing of manuscripts for publications resulting from the trial and fulfil the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (IJCME) criteria for authorship. If there are any disagreements, the CIs will have a final say.

In all publications, authors should acknowledge that the trial was performed with the support of NIHR and University of Birmingham, BCTU and University of Glasgow. Intellectual property rights will be addressed in the Study Site Agreement between Sponsor and site.

# **26. REFERENCE LIST**

- 1. Lowrie F, Gibson L, Lowrie R et al. A descriptive study of a novel pharmacist led health outreach service for those experiencing homelessness. Int J Pharm Pract. 2019. 27(4):355-61.
- Lowrie R, Williamson A, Spencer R, Hair A, Gallacher I, Hewitt N. Collaborative engagement for long term conditions by clinical pharmacists for people who are homeless in Glasgow, Scotland. http://www.feantsa.org/download/march-2017-health-and-homelessness-newsletter2959399951318964653.pdf. Accessed 04/02/21.
- 3. Lowrie R, Hair A, Gibson L. How pharmacists are helping the homeless in Glasgow. Pharm J 2017 (May). DOI: 10.1211/CP.2017.20202677.
- Gunner E, Marwick S, Saunders K, Burwood S...Paudyal V. Provision and accessibility of primary healthcare services for people who are homeless: a qualitative study of patient perspectives in the UK. BJGP 2019: 69(685):e526-36.
- 5. Paudyal V, Maclure K, Forbes-McKay K et al. If I die, I die, I don't care about my health': perspectives on selfcare of people experiencing homelessness. Health Soc Care Comm 2020;28:160–172.
- 6. Gibson Smith K, Paudyal V, MacLure K et al. Relocating patients from a specialist homeless healthcare centre to general practices: a multi-perspective study. BJGP 2018 68(667):e105-e113
- 7. Paudyal V, MacLure K, Buchanan C et al. When you are homeless, you are not thinking about your medication, but your food, shelter or heat for the night': behavioural determinants of the homeless population adherence to prescribed medicines. Public Health 2017: 148: 1-8.
- Jagpal P, Barnes N, Lowrie R, Banerjee A, Paudyal V. Clinical pharmacy intervention for persons experiencing homelessness: evaluation of patient perspectives in service design and development. Pharmacy 2019, 7, 153; doi:10.3390/pharmacy7040153
- Jagpal P, Saunders K, Plahe G, Russell S, Barnes N, Lowrie R, Paudyal V. Research priorities in healthcare of persons experiencing homelessness: outcomes of a national multi-disciplinary stakeholder discussion in the United Kingdom. Int J Eq Health 2020; 19:86 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01206-3.

- 10. World Health Organization. Declaration of Alma-Ata. https://www.who.int/teams/social-determinants-ofhealth/declaration-of-alma-ata. Accessed 04/02/21.
- 11. Johnsen S, Cuthill F, Blenkinsopp J. Outreach-based clinical pharmacist prescribing input into the healthcare of people experiencing homelessness: a qualitative investigation. BMC Health Serv Res 2021; 21(1):1.
- Johnsen S, Cuthill F, Blenkinsopp J. Qualitative Evaluation of Clinical Pharmacist Prescribing Input into the Care of People Experiencing Homelessness. Institute for Social Policy, Housing and Equalities Research: Edinburgh, UK. 2019.
- Heriott-Watt University, I-SPHERE. Overcoming barriers to healthcare for people experiencing homelessness. https://www.i-sphere.hw.ac.uk/overcoming-barriers-to-healthcare-for-people-experiencing-homelessness/. Accessed 04/02/21.
- Lowrie R, Stock K, Lucey S, Knapp M, Williamson A, Montgomery M, Lombard C, Maguire D, Allan R, Blair R, Paudyal V, Mair FS. Pharmacist led Homeless Outreach Engagement and Non-Medical Independent 1 prescribing (Rx) (PHOENIx) intervention for people experiencing homelessness: a non- 2 randomised feasibility study. Int J Eq Health 2021. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01337-7.
- 15. Tsu L, Buckley K, Nguyen S, Kohn J. Evaluating the impact of pharmacist health education on the perceptions of the pharmacist's role among women living in a homeless shelter. Pharmacy Practice 2015 13(4):649.
- 16. Nikolić N. An explorative study on medicines reconciliation in the homeless with a mental illness. Int J Pharm Pract 2018 Oct;26(5):469-72.
- 17. Haake ER, Krieger KJ. Establishing a pharmacist-managed outreach clinic at a day shelter for homeless veterans. Mental Health Clin 2020;10(4):232-6.
- Bahrami S, Chang C, Alvarez KS. Pharmacist impact on health outcomes in a homeless population. J Am Pharm Assoc 2020; 60: 3: 485-490.
- Chan V, Patounas M, Dornbusch D et al. Is there a role for pharmacists in multidisciplinary health-care teams at community outreach events for the homeless? Aus J Prim Health. 2015 Dec 16;21(4):379-83.
- 20. Gil M, Mikaitis DK, Shier G et al. Impact of a combined pharmacist and social worker program to reduce hospital readmissions. J Manag Care Pharm 2013 Sep;19(7):558-63.
- 21. Paudyal V, Gibson Smith MacLure K et al. Perceived roles and barriers in caring for the people who are homeless: a survey of UK community pharmacists. Int J Clin Pharm 2019;15;41:1:215-27.
- NHS England. Clinical Pharmacists in General Practice. https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/expanding-ourworkforce/cp-gp/. Accessed 17/07/2019.
- Mann C, Anderson A, Avery A. Clinical Pharmacists in General Practice: Pilot scheme. https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/pharmacy/documents/generalpracticeyearfwdrev/clinical-pharmacists-in-generalpractice-pilotscheme-full-report.pdf. Accessed 16/09/2020.
- 24. Alshehri AA, Yahyouche A, Jalal Z et al. Impact of the pharmacist-led intervention on the control of medical cardiovascular risk factors for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in general practice: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2020; 86(1):29-38.
- 25. Hewett N, Buchman P, Buchman P et al. Randomised controlled trial of GP-led in-hospital management of homeless people ('Pathway'). Clin Med 2016;16 (3):223-229.
- Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, Ganann R et al. Effectiveness of interventions to improve the health and housing status of homeless people: a rapid systematic review. BMC Pub Health 2011;11(1):638
- Gov.UK. Rough sleeping strategy. 2018. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/733421/Roug h-Sleeping- Strategy\_WEB.pdf. Accessed Accessed 04/02/21.
- Scottish Government. Public Health priorities for Scotland. https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/corporate-report/2018/06/scotlandspublic-health-priorities/documents/00536757-pdf/00536757-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00536757.pdf. Accessed Accessed 04/02/21.
- 29. Gov. UK Homelessness statistics.https://www.gov.uk/housing-local-and-community/homelessness-roughsleeping. Accessed 04/02/21.
- Public Health England. Pharmacy playing a pivotal role in prevention and public healthhttps://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2019/06/28/pharmacy-playing-a-pivotal-role-in-prevention-andpublic-health/. Accessed 04/02/21.
- 31. NHS England. What is personalised care? https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/what-is-personalisedcare/ Accessed 04/02/21.
- 32. NHS England. Delivering Universal Personalised Care. https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/upc/ .Accessed 04/02/21.
- NHS England. Social Prescribing. https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/social-prescribing/ . Accessed 04/02/21.
- Scottish Drug Forum. Drug-related deaths in Scotland MSP Briefing. http://www.sdf.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2021/01/MSP-Briefing-Drug-Related-Deaths-Jan-2021.pdf. Accessed 04/02/21.
- 35. Office of the National Statistics. Deaths of homeless people in England and Wales: 2019 registrations. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsofho melesspeopleinenglandandwales/2019registrations. Accessed 04/02/21.
- 36. Yates D. Birmingham DARD Inquiry Group- report from the Coroner's Office. Birmingham Drug and Alcohol related Death Local Inquiry Group. January 2021.
- Aldridge RW, Menezes D, Lewer D et al. Causes of death among homeless people: a population-based crosssectional study of linked hospitalisation and mortality data in England. Wellcome Open Research. 2019;4.https://wellcomeopenresearch.org/articles/4-49.
- Aldridge RW, Story A et al. Morbidity and mortality in homeless individuals, prisoners, sex workers, and individuals with substance use disorders in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 2017; 391:10117: 241-250.

- 39. GOV.UK. Homelessness statistics: Statutory homelessness in England.
- https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/homelessness-statistics. Accessed Accessed 04/02/21.
- 40. Scottish Government. Homelessness in Scotland. https://www.gov.scot/publications/homelessness-scotland-2019-2020/. Accessed Accessed 04/02/21.
- 41. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. Rough sleeping statistics
- 42. Queen AB, Lowrie R, Richardson J, Williamson AE. Multimorbidity, disadvantage, and patient engagement within a specialist homeless health service in the UK: an in-depth study of general practice data. BJGP Open. 2017;1:3:bjgpopen17X100941.
- 43. Bowen M, Paudyal V et al. Multimorbidity and emergency department visits by a homeless population: a database study in specialist general practice. BJGP 69 (685): e515-e525.
- Zeitler M, Williamson AE, Budd J, Spencer R, Queen A, Lowrie, R. Comparing the impact of primary care practice design in two inner city UK homelessness services. J Primary Care & Comm Health 2020. https://doi.org/10.1177/2150132720910568.
- 45. .Paudyal V, Saunders K, Lowrie R et al. Clinical characteristics, attendance disposal and deaths of homeless persons in the emergency department: analysis of retrospective clinical data. Public Health2021; 1;196:117-23.
- 46. Ellis DA, McQueenie R...Williamson AE. Demographic and practice factors predicting repeated non-attendance in primary care: a national retrospective cohort analysis. The Lancet Public Health. 2017; 1;2(12):e551-9.
- 47. National Institute for Health Research (2015). Effectiveness and Cost-effectiveness of 'Usual Care' Versus 'Specialist Integrated Care': A Comparative Study of Hospital Discharge Arrangements for Homeless People in England. https://www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/programmes/hsdr/1315610/#/ Accessed 04/02/21.
- Royal Society of Public Health. Allied Health Professionals (AHPs): an integral part of the health and care workforce. https://www.rsph.org.uk/our-work/policy/wider-public-health-workforce/allied-healthprofessionals.html. Accessed 04/02/21.
- 49. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, Janssen MF, Kind P, Parkin D, Bonsel G, Badia X (2011). Development and
- FEANTSA. ETHOS Typology on Homelessness and Housing Exclusion. Available: https://www.feantsa.org/en/toolkit/2005/04/01/ethos-typology-on-homelessness-and-housing-exclusion. Accessed 19 Jan 2022.
- 51. Health Research Authority. Mental Capacity Act. https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improvingresearch/policies-standards-legislation/mental-capacity-act/ Accessed 07 January 2021.
- 52. Murray E, Treweek S et al. Normalisation process theory: a framework for developing, evaluating and implementing complex interventions. BMC Med 2010;8:1:63.

# **27. APPENDIX**